# INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR PAEDIATRIC MEDICINES

### TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE



Partnership hosted by the World Health Organization

Innovative delivery systems for paediatric medicines: technology landscape

ISBN 978-92-4-000818-2 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-000819-9 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2020 (acting as the host Organization for the Secretariat of UNITAID)

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo)</u>.

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (<u>http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/</u> <u>mediation/rules/</u>).

**Suggested citation.** Innovative delivery systems for paediatric medicines: technology landscape. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Licence: <u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>.

**Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data.** CIP data are available at <u>http://apps.who.int/iris</u>.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see <u>http://apps.who.int/bookorders</u>. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see <u>http://www.who.int/</u>about/licensing.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

**General disclaimers.** The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement.

The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

### INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR PAEDIATRIC MEDICINES: TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was prepared by Jenny Walsh (Jenny Walsh Consulting Ltd.), Martina Penazzato (WHO), Cherise Scott and Carmen Perez Casas (Unitaid). A general thank you to our colleagues in Unitaid and WHO, and GAP-f Steering Group for their review of the draft landscape, as well as, to the numerous individuals, manufacturers and developers, and partner organizations (Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation) who contributed to the content of this report such as Paul L Domanico (Clinton Health Access Initiative), Melynda Watkins (Clinton Health Access Initiative), Isabelle Andrieux-Meyer (DNDi), Joerg Breitkreutz (University of Duesseldorf), Viviane Klingmann (University of Duesseldorf), Catherine Tuleu (University College London/European Paediatric Formulation Initiative), Fang Liu (Fluid Pharma/University of Hertfordshire), Andrew Owen (University of Liverpool), Hanu Ramachandruni (Medicines for Malaria Venture), Courtney Jarrahian (PATH), Manjari Lal (PATH), Manjar Quintanar-Solares (PATH).

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Acknowledgements	1
	Contents	2
	Foreword	4
	Abbreviations and acronyms	6
	Executive summary	7
۱.	LANDSCAPE OBJECTIVE	9
2.	METHODOLOGY	9
	PUBLIC HEALTH CHALLENGES IN PAEDIATRIC TREATMENT AND PREVENTION	10
Ц.	MARKET BARRIERS TO PAEDIATRIC	
l.	MEDICINE DEVELOPMENT	10
	4.1 Technical challenges	10
	4.2 Paediatric clinical studies	11
	4.3 Cost, regulations and incentives	12
	4.4 Product introduction and roll out	12
5.	TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE	13
	5.1 Oral route dosage forms and technologies	18
	5.1.1 Dispersible tablets	18
	5.1.2 Oro-dispersible tablets	21
	5.1.3 Multi-particulates	23
	5.1.4 Mini tablets	27
	5.1.5 Oral films	30
	5.1.6 Novel oral delivery systems for biologic drugs	32
	5.1.7 Taste-masking technologies	32
	5.1.8 Long-acting technologies for the oral route	35
	5.2 Rectal route dosage forms	36
	5.2.1 Suppositories	36
	5.3 Parenteral route dosage forms	38
	5.3.1 Advantages and Disadvantages	39
	5.3.2 Acceptability of parenteral products	39
	5.3.3 Long-acting technologies for the parenteral route	39
	5.3.4 Needle-free injections	42
	5.4 Transdermal dosage forms	43
	5.4.1 Microneedles	43
	5.5 Examples of supportive technologies	46
	5.5.1 Technologies for enhancing the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs	46
	5.5.2 3D Printing	48

6.	KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR APPLICATION	
	OF INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS	49
	6.1 Near-term dosage form and technology opportunities	52
	6.2 Medium to long-term dosage form and technology opportunities	53
57	CONCLUSION	55
¥ 0	CONCEDITOR	55

#### LIST OF TABLES

TABLE IExamples of commercially available co-processed excipients1 for DTs	20
TABLE 2     Examples of marketed dispersible tablet products indicated for use in children <sup>a</sup>	21
TABLE 3     Examples of commercially available oro-dispersible tablet technologies	22
TABLE 4Examples of marketed oro-dispersible products indicated for use in children <sup>a</sup>	23
TABLE 5     Examples of commercially available multi-particulate technologies	26
TABLE 6     Examples of marketed multi-particulate products indicated for use in children <sup>a</sup>	27
TABLE 7     Examples of marketed mini tablet products indicated for use in children <sup>a</sup>	29
TABLE 8   Examples of commercially available oral film technologies	31
TABLE 9     Examples of marketed oral film products indicated for children and adolescents <sup>a</sup>	32
TABLE IO     Examples of commercially available taste-masking technologies	34
TABLE 12     Examples of commercially available microneedle technologies	38
TABLE 13   Summary of key considerations of potential paediatric dosage forms   for limited-resource settings	50

### FOREWORD

There has been tremendous progress towards reducing morbidity and mortality from the major infectious disease killers including HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria. This is due in part to the introduction of innovative treatments and diagnostic tools which have contributed to greater efficiencies of care, moving us closer to our targets for eliminating these diseases as a public health problem. However, significant gaps in the global response remain and progress continues to be slower in key and vulnerable populations, including infants and children. Still over 5 million children are dying before reaching their fifth birthday, mostly in low and middle-income countries, and mostly from conditions that are readily preventable or treatable.

Medicines recommended for the prevention or treatment of diseases in babies and children are frequently legacy medicines which may not be the most effective, and/ or are delivered as non-palatable complicated dosage forms eventually leading to poor adherence and inadequate dosing of the prescribed treatment. Many challenges affect the investigation, development and access of appropriate medicines for children including weak market incentives with limited prospectus of market revenue; logistical, operationaland technical barriers; and complex evaluation and regulatory pathways.

Over the last years, several global stakeholders have worked towards accelerating access to optimal paediatric formulations, whose availability historically have lagged up to 10 years behind that of the adult treatments. The World Health Organization (WHO), at the heart of such collaborative efforts, organized the first Paediatric Antiretroviral Drug Optimization (PADO) meeting in 2013 in Dakar to examine gaps in HIV-paediatric formulations to ensure best recommendations on the use of antiretroviral drugs could be implemented for treating and preventing HIV infection in infants and children, as well as to support the investigations and development of more simplified, less toxic drug regimens. Since then, paediatric drug optimization has expanded to other disease areas promoting prioritization and adaptation of key drugs and regimens for tuberculosis and hepatitis. The establishment of the Global Accelerator for Paediatric Formulations (GAP-f), launched in 2018 and now formally recognised as a WHO-led network, provides an opportunity to reinforce and innovate the mechanism needed to ensure that priority optimal paediatric formulations are investigated, developed and made available to children in a timely manner. Within malaria, revisions were made to the co-payment structure of Affordable Medicines Facility – Malaria (AMFm) to favour paediatric packs for therapies in March 2011. Since the revisions, measures have been put in place for managing orders to give preference to child-packs - which had an immediate impact on uptake of these medicines for children in affected regions. In addition, key research and development efforts have played a major role in bringing in more competition with the entry of multiple generic products pushing down prices for malaria medicines, both for adults and children.

In recent years, various improved child-friendly formulations have come to market, as a result of a multi-stakeholder approach, for critical medicines for HIV (e.g., ritonavirboosted lopinavir oral pellets), malaria (e.g., dispersible sulfadoxine--pyrimethamine + amodiaquine) and tuberculosis (e.g., dispersible fixed dosed combinations for first-line treatment). These more effective formulations and regimens are lessening the burden for

4

health providers and caregivers administering the medicines and offering more adapted and acceptable treatment options for children taking the medicines. Furthermore, they are demonstrating greater tolerability in young children and infants and leading to better health outcomes. Unitaid has been at the forefront of these efforts with over US\$1 billion direct investments since its inception put towards improving and accelerating therapeutic innovations for children affected by HIV, tuberculosis, and malaria in low- and middleincome countries.

Much more remains to be done. Innovative delivery tools hold promise in facilitating costeffective fit-for-purpose products that meet the unique needs of children in low-resource settings around the world. These tools could further simplify administration, improve adherence and ultimately lead to better health outcomes in children. This potential needs to be fully tapped starting with thorough landscaping to identify opportunities to accelerate research and development for the maximum impact. We cannot let infants and children be left behind and suffer and die from treatable conditions; we cannot accept the status quo and need to ensure that the most vulnerable, the small children, are at the forefront of our efforts in scientific and technical innovation.

Signatures

Philippe Duneton Executive Director *a.i., Unitaid* 

Soumya Swaminathan Chief Scientist, *WHO* 

### ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

3DP	3-dimensional printing
AMFm	Affordable Medicines Facility – Malaria
ARV	Anti-retroviral (drug)
ASD	Amorphous solid dispersion
CHAI	Clinton Health Access Initiative
DT	Dispersible tablet
EC	European Commission
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
GI	Gastro-intestinal
GRAS	Generally Recognized as Safe
IER	Ion exchange resin
IM	Intra-muscular
IV	Intra-venous
LMIC	Low and Middle-Income Countries
mcg	microgram
mg	milligram
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare Regulatory Authority
mL	millilitre
MP	Multi-particulate
nm	nanometre
ODMT	Oro-dispersible mini tablet
ODT	Oro-dispersible tablet
SC	Sub-cutaneous
SEDDS	Self-emulsifying drug delivery system
SLN	Solid lipid nanoparticle
SMEDDS	Self-micro-emulsifying drug delivery system
SNEDDS	Self-nano-emulsifying drug delivery system
TPP	Target product profile
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
USA	United States of America
WHO	World Health Organization

### EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Although morbidity and mortality of children has declined significantly from the major infectious diseases such as TB, malaria, HIV and HIV-associated infections, **this vulnerable population still suffers disproportionately from low coverage of preventive and** treatment interventions, poor outcomes and high-mortality compared to adults. A major driver of this is the real lack of fit for purpose products for children in LMICs and this is true not only for the therapeutics for the diseases mentioned, but also for antibiotics and other therapeutics listed on the WHO Essential Medicines List and medicines for neglected diseases in general.

Age-appropriate formulations and improved case finding have allowed greater gains in reducing morbidity and mortality in children, although critical gaps still remain. For instance, delivery of these interventions continues to present challenges, particularly in low- and middle-income countries, which are exacerbated at time of systemic disruptions (i.e., outbreak and conflict) affecting uptake and compliance. In this context, **one area of great interest is novel delivery and formulation methods for medications geared to the unique needs of children which can overcome or mitigate some of the larger systemic or individual challenges still reported.** 

**Paediatric patients are a highly diverse patient population ranging from preterm and term neonates to adolescents**, which makes the development of paediatric medicines very challenging. Changes in drug metabolism and clearance require dose adjustment based on age and weight which affect our ability to design dosage forms with maximum flexibility. It is also key to consider the acceptability of a paediatric medicine to facilitate patient compliance; aspects such as palatability, dose volume and frequency, complexity of administration (for example reconstitution or mixing with food or beverage) and the potential for administration to cause pain or discomfort are key.

The development of paediatric medicines in adequate formulations for LMICs has additional challenges including compatibility with high temperature and high humidity climates, transportation systems that are rudimentary and fragmented, poorly developed supply chains, high cost of paediatric formulations and difficulties for caregivers to store and administer them appropriately.

Additionally, conducting clinical studies in paediatrics is more challenging and may be more costly than adult studies. This often requires the set-up of multi-country studies with multiple sites recruiting a small number of participants in each. Research capacity to meet appropriate standards to undertake these studies continues to be limited in some regions of the world and efforts need to put in place for training and monitoring.

Overall, the cost of the research and development of **licensed paediatric products may be greater than for products intended for adults and lack market incentives.** With unclear and limited market prospectus, such as for LMICs markets, these development programs do not take place in the absence of intervention. Introduction and uptake of new paediatric products remain the last critical steps of and effective path to children in need. These aspects are often overlooked with the expectation that products will make their way to children in need, but there are multiple examples of significant delays in paediatric products uptake.

Provided in this landscape analysis is an overview of new and emerging dosage forms and formulation technologies that may be beneficial if applied for use in paediatric patients. It covers various routes of administration including oral, rectal, parenteral, transdermal and others. There is also attention given to long-acting formulations that hold clear promise for use in children. **Emphasis is placed upon those dosage forms and technologies which could be suitable for use for children in LMICs**.

There are key considerations when analysing potential application of these technologies to existing and emerging therapeutic needs for children. **Some technologies are ready and available to use in an intervention today, while others will require further investigations**. As a result, strategic interventions and investments in this area can be classified by opportunities in the short-term and in the long-term.

There are near-term opportunities for the development of age-appropriate solid oral dosage forms including dispersible tablet formulations and oro-dispersible tablets. Also, suppositories and long-acting depot injectables offer potential alternatives and are gaining interest. Well established technologies for controlling and delaying release and for enhancing the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs are all considered to provide near-term opportunities. On the longer term, further evaluation of the safety and acceptability of some of the dosage forms and technologies in paediatric patients are required, as well as, the feasibility for cost-effective commercialisation. (i.e., oro-dispersible and buccal films, long acting implants, and needle-free injections).

Stakeholders involved with development of target product profiles and prioritization of formulations for children should be aware of the available delivery systems and formulation methods to be able to focus efforts on the best fit technology for a specific condition or medicine affecting children in LMICs that could have the most positive impact.

There is urgency to review therapeutic gaps for children that could be addressed with better formulations of life-saving medicines and match them with available technologies to ensure full realization of the potential of existing medicines when adequately formulated.

8

### I. LANDSCAPE OBJECTIVE

Unitaid's mission and approach is to utilize market interventions to improve public health and catalyse access to better health products in low and middle-income countries (LMICs). Across its portfolio in HIV and its comorbidities, TB, and malaria, Unitaid has invested significantly in better treatment and diagnostics for children. Through its investments and with its partners including WHO, Unitaid supports key activities to speed access to priority products for children notably for children affected by with HIV and its coinfections, TB, and malaria.

Age-appropriate formulations and improved case finding have allowed greater gains in reducing morbidity and mortality in children, although critical gaps remain. Given the state of the art of existing and pipeline technologies to deliver medicines, there is the possibility of determining opportunities for further addressing the treatment needs of this vulnerable population. One area of promise is novel delivery and formulation methods for medications geared to the unique needs of children.

This landscape analysis provides an overview of various paediatric medicine delivery solutions with a focus on disease-agnostic technologies that could be adapted to priority diseases in LMICs and could guide the planning for strategic investments in this area.

### 2. METHODOLOGY

This landscape document has been prepared using information in the public domain, including peer-reviewed publications identified through literature searches, scientific news articles (January 2019 – March 2020), individual websites of regulatory and policy agencies (EMA, US FDA, MHRA and WHO-PQ), and company websites.

Additional information regarding existing and emerging technologies that may be applicable to paediatric patients has been sourced via interviews with key opinion leaders and researchers (January – February 2020). Data and analysis are current as of 10 April 2020, unless otherwise indicated.

### 5. PUBLIC HEALTH CHALLENGES IN PAEDIATRIC TREATMENT AND PREVENTION

Although morbidity and mortality of children has declined significantly from the major infectious diseases such as TB, malaria, HIV<sup>1</sup> and HIV-associated infections, this vulnerable population still suffers disproportionately from low coverage of preventive and treatment interventions, poor outcomes and high-mortality compared to adults.

There is real lack of fit for purpose products for children in LMICs and this is particularly true for not only the therapeutics for the diseases mentioned above, but also for antibiotics and other therapeutics listed on the WHO Essential Medicines List for children (EMLc). In addition, there are increasingly new medicines emerging from the pipeline that are transforming care for many conditions, including neglected diseases such as such as leishmaniasis, Chagas disease and sleeping sickness. The importance of enabling these life-saving products for use in children in a timely fashion is essential, with consideration of the most critical needs and pressing opportunities. It will be paramount to ensure that these new molecules are evaluated in a timely fashion in clinical trials for an indication in children, as well as, formulated in a child-friendly and effective manner.

### 4, MARKET BARRIERS TO PAEDIATRIC MEDICINE DEVELOPMENT

#### 4.1 Technical challenges

Paediatric patients are a highly diverse patient population ranging from pre-term and term neonates to adolescents, which makes the development of paediatric medicines very challenging. Childhood is a period of rapid growth and development which impacts the way drugs are metabolised and cleared, and hence the required dose of a drug can change with age. In addition, exposure to excipients in children may differ compared to that in adults. Although excipients are generally considered to be inert components of formulations, they may have a different effect on the developing organ systems of a child. Therefore, the safety and toxicity of excipients used in medicines intended for paediatric patients need to be assessed and their use and levels justified. Excipients of concern include preservatives, colouring agents, flavourings, sweetening agents, surfactants and co-solvents.

The ability of children to take different dosage forms and suitable dose volume also changes according to age. For example, it is well recognised that neonates, and infants but also young children may have difficulty in swallowing large solid oral dosage forms, and children below the age of approximately 4 years have difficulty in using dry powder inhalers. In addition, appropriate volumes of liquids (oral, parenteral, rectal, nasal) for paediatrics are smaller than those for adults, and therefore may require the use of different-sized administration devices or different concentrations to ensure acceptable accuracy of dose.

It is key to consider the acceptability of a paediatric medicine to facilitate patient adherence; aspects such as palatability, dose volume and frequency, complexity of administration (for example reconstitution or mixing with food or beverage) and the potential for administration to cause pain or discomfort are key. Furthermore, socio-cultural factors and familiarity with a dosage form type should be considered. All these aspects can impact adherence and ultimately affect outcomes.

This may result in the need for more than one paediatric dosage form and/or strength, which can lead to added complexity and cost. Indeed, an "ideal dosage form" generally does not exist and therefore a compromise may need to be reached.<sup>2,3,4,5,6,7,8,9,10</sup>

The development of paediatric medicines for LMICs has additional challenges. Many LMICs have high temperature and high humidity climates. Therefore, since there is limited provision of temperature-controlled supply chain and storage in these areas, drug products should be stable at elevated temperatures and humidity. Solids tend to be more stable than liquids and semi-solids, and therefore may be more suitable for such climates. Furthermore, transportation systems can be rudimentary and fragmented, especially in rural areas, resulting in the need for lightweight and compact yet robust primary packaging. Poorly developed supply chains can also lead to difficulties in effective distribution of medicines. The price of pharmaceutical products is a key selection criterion in LMICs with low availability and/or poor affordability (cost equivalent to a day or more day's wages) being key barriers to patients' access to potentially better products.<sup>11,12,13</sup>

#### 4.2 Paediatric clinical studies

Conducting clinical studies in paediatrics is more challenging and may be more costly than adult studies for several reasons. For example, optimizing study design to generate the right evidence might not always be straightforward from the start and while small pharmacokinetic studies are often sufficient to prove appropriate exposure of an approved drug when testing a new formulation, there are instances where larger efficacy or safety studies might be of value such as in special populations such as neonates or young infants. Identifying these specific cases and designing studies optimally so that the largest amount of evidence is generated in the shortest possible time can be a challenge. Moreover, the recruitment and accrual of an appropriate number of children across age groups can be time-consuming and difficult due to a relatively small patient population when the target diseases are less prevalent. This often requires the set-up of multi-country studies with multiple sites recruiting a small number of participants in each. Research capacity to meet appropriate standards to undertake these studies continue to be limited in some regions of the world and efforts need to put in place for training and monitoring.

Parents/caregivers may be reluctant to allow their child to participate in a clinical study due to concerns regarding safety, for example possible side effects, and the need for blood sampling, which may deter them from providing informed consent. Depending on national regulations, older children may be required to give their assent for participating and may have similar concerns. Logistical deterrents may include lack of transportation to study site and conflicts with work and school schedules. There are also ethical challenges associated with conducting studies in children. Ethical review boards are at times reluctant to approve clinical studies without substantial evidence in adult populations. For example, it is unethical to allow a child to participate in a clinical study if there is no perceived direct benefit for him or her, and potential risks need to be carefully managed. The volume of blood taken through sampling must be limited and paediatric studies should be designed such that the number of sampling points per patient is minimised whilst ensuring sufficient collation of data. In resource poor areas, additional challenges for conducting

paediatric studies include lack of patient accessibility to healthcare facilities and limited ethical committee and regulatory experience in reviewing and approving clinical studies in children.<sup>14,15,16,17</sup>

#### 4.3 Cost, regulations and incentives

Overall, the cost of the development of paediatric products may be greater than for products intended for adults, due to the challenges and potential need to develop more than one formulation to allow easy administration to children across all age groups. In addition, the cost of manufacturing specialised formulations, especially when weighed against the return on investment and particularly for small markets or niche products, can be high compared to well-established, non-complex formulations manufactured on a large scale.

This lack of market incentives has required the establishment of specific regulatory frameworks that both in the US and EU have ensured that infants and children are included in drug development programmes, unless otherwise justified. However, these regulations, have so far only influenced patent-protected drugs to be marketed in high-income countries (for example, USA and Europe) and very minimally drugs with a market outside of these territories.<sup>18,19,20</sup> In addition, the timelines for completion of paediatric investigation plans to generate sufficient data or due to delays can often take several years to obtain a paediatric indication after a new drug receives marketing authorization for adults.

In contrast, the development of paediatric medicines of off-patent drugs is currently voluntary, with potentially limited financial incentives or rewards for pharmaceutical companies; many off-patent paediatric medicines under development have been made available through research consortia projects financed with public and philanthropy funds. As a result, there is still a lack of age-appropriate products of off-patent drugs, including for drugs being used to treat priority diseases in LMICs.<sup>21,22</sup> Dedicated incentives need to be explored on a product by product basis.

#### 4.4 Product introduction and roll out

Introduction and uptake of new paediatric products remain the last critical steps of and effective path to children in need. National registration, inclusion in national treatment guidelines, and national formularies are all essential steps to introduce a new paediatric product. Programmes are then in charge to generate demand where children primarily receive care, conducting adequate training, supported supervision and effective management of the supply at national and subnational level. This is particularly true for new formulations with complex preparation and administration requirements, which might be challenging in resource-limited settings.

These aspects are often overlooked with the expectation that newer, better products will make their way to children in need, but there are multiple examples of significant delays in the uptake of paediatric products. Delayed uptake and limited demand represent further disincentives for any additional investment to scale up manufacturing capacity and ensuring supply continuity for paediatric formulations.

Over the last few years, rapid introduction and effective roll out of any new paediatric product have therefore required catalytic investments to ensure adequate planning and proactive coordination among the various stakeholders involved. In the foreseeable future these interventions will continue to be important to ensure innovative products make it to the end of children in need.

### 5. TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE

An overview of new and emerging dosage forms and formulation technologies that may be applicable for paediatric patients is provided in this section, including examples of marketed products in each case, even if to date only developed for adults. Emphasis is placed upon those technologies which could be suitable, and beneficial, for use for children in LMICs. The technology landscape is disease agnostic and does not include information on new therapeutic compounds but only in the technologies to be applied as appropriate to improve their formulation and convenience for children.

The landscape is divided by route of administration:

- Oral route (chapters 5.1)
- Rectal route (chapter 5.2)
- Parenteral route (chapter 5.3)
- Transdermal route (chapter 5.4)
- New technologies applicable to different routes (chapter 5.5)

In addition, in each case special attention has been given to **long-acting formulations** to further assess the potential of this approach for children in each of the relevant routes of administration (oral, parenteral and transdermal). Controlled (sustained) drug release has several advantages including the optimisation of pharmacokinetics, reduction in dosing frequency, improvement in patient compliance and simplification of mass drug administration campaigns. Facilitating adherence and retention in care is of particular importance for chronic conditions, and infections where a lack of adherence could lead to the development of drug resistance and treatment failure.

This has led to an interest in the research and development for long acting drugs and products for HIV treatment and prevention (e.g. antiretrovirals such as islatravir, or HIV-1 capsid inhibitors, or broadly neutralizing antibodies, but also by formulating short-acting antiretrovirals with technology platforms and devices that can extend their life up to one year, such as cabotegravir for pre-exposure prophylaxis) as reflected in **Figure 1** and **2** below.<sup>23</sup>

#### FIGURE I Landscape of long-acting HIV treatment pipeline (Unitaid/WHO, December 2019)





Long-acting injectable Oral drugs Antibodies Implants & Other technologies Beyond primary endpoint Regulatory submission Regulatory approval

INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR PAEDIATRIC MEDICINES: TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE

14

2020	2021	2022	2023	2024
FDA?				
	hly mono, HIV>200 non-adherer	nt, n=350)		
	preci	linical		
UBP-A205/ UBP-A213				
UBP-A304-HIV (IV	′2-weekly mono, ART int., n=52	20)		

FIGURE 2 Landscape of long-acting HIV prevention pipeline (Unitaid/WHO, December 2019, adapted May 2020)





Long-acting injectable

Implants & Other technologies

Beyond primary endpoint

Regulatory submission

Regulatory approval

INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS FOR PAEDIATRIC MEDICINES: TECHNOLOGY LANDSCAPE 16

2020	2021	2022	2023	2024
8591-016 (P2a: n=250)				
CAP-018 (P1; r	n=60)	CAP-018 (P2; n	=490)	

Likewise, a number of products are now also under investigation in the field of longacting for other indications such as malaria, TB or hepatitis C.<sup>24,25</sup> This is in addition to the continued improvement of long-acting contraceptives and the search for combined use long-acting products, for example for contraception and HIV prevention.<sup>26,27</sup> A review of long acting technologies (for oral and non-oral routes of administration) for the prevention and treatment of major infectious diseases has been conducted by Unitaid <sup>28</sup>, some of which may potentially be applicable to paediatrics.

#### 5.1 Oral route dosage forms and technologies

The oral route is a commonly used route for medicine administration to paediatrics, although as discussed above, the acceptability of different dosage forms varies according to the age and developmental stage of the child. Oral liquids (solutions, suspensions, emulsions) are acceptable from birth, being easy to swallow and allowing flexibility of dosing. However, due to their limited stability in non-temperate climates and potentially bulky primary packaging, they have not been included in this document. Indeed, the WHO has stated that "the dosage forms of medicines that are likely to prove most "suitable" particularly for developing countries are flexible solid dosage forms, such as tablets that are oro-dispersible and or that can be used for preparation of oral liquids (for example suspension or solution)."<sup>29</sup> Chewable dosage forms may be preferred by children aged from approximately 6 years and are frequently used to administer vitamins to school age children. However, there is a risk of choking or aspiration in young children and hence they are not discussed in this document. Conventional tablets and capsules have also been excluded since they are generally only acceptable for older children and adolescents.

#### 5.1.1 Dispersible tablets

Dispersible tablets (DTs), also known as tablets for oral suspension, are uncoated tablets or film-coated tablets that disintegrate into a homogenous dispersion within 3 minutes in water (or another beverage, e.g. breast milk) before administration. DTs are often packaged in blister packs.

#### 5.1.1.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

DTs are generally more stable than liquids, are less bulky and do not require preservatives. However, they can be susceptible to moisture and therefore may require moisture protective packaging such as aluminium, which can be more expensive than plastic blister packaging. A moisture-protective blister system has been developed by Amcor (Dessiflex Blister System) that incorporates desiccant particles into the aluminium sealant layer to help absorb moisture.<sup>30</sup> This may improve the stability and shelf-life of moisture-sensitive products and drugs, but it should be noted that excessive drying of some formations can lead to friability. DTs have limited dose flexibility although they enable straightforward accurate dosing in patients with swallowing difficulties and are simple and easy to prepare and administer. It is important that a minimal volume of liquid is used for dispersion and that the whole volume is administered to ensure the full dose is taken. The lack of clean water in low-resource settings can present another challenge for DTs. In addition, to ensure acceptable palatability, DTs may require the inclusion of sweetening agents and/ or flavourings with consideration that acceptable flavour profiles may be different across different geographic areas.<sup>31,32,33,34,35,36,37,38</sup> Due to the advantages of DTs described above, their development for and use in paediatric products in LMICs has been recommended by WHO and UNICEE

#### 5.1.1.2 Acceptability of dispersible tablets

Volume of dispersion and palatability are likely to be key product attributes affecting the acceptability of DTs, although ease of dosing, especially compared to crushing tablets, is also of importance. The size of particles within a dispersion can have an impact on palatability, and insoluble particles larger than approximately 250 µm have been reported to give a gritty mouthfeel and be poorly accepted.<sup>39</sup> Zinc dispersible tablets have been perceived as being acceptable by over 90 % of caregivers of children aged less than 5 years.<sup>40</sup> In addition, higher acceptability and tolerability has been reported in young children for a dispersible artemether-lumefantrine tablet compared to a dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine tablet. The dispersible tablet was considered to be simpler to use and to have a better taste.<sup>41</sup>

More recently, good overall acceptability was observed for a novel dispersible paediatric levofloxacin formulation in young children, being more palatable and easier to prepare than the adult product.<sup>42</sup> In contrast, DTs have been perceived as being liked less than chewable tablets, lozenges, or liquids, although easy to prepare.<sup>43</sup> Of note, participants in this study may have been influenced by previous experience with sweet oral liquids, lozenges and vitamin C tablets.

#### 5.1.1.3 Examples of dispersible tablet technologies

DTs are commonly manufactured by direct compression, which is a relatively cheap and noncomplex manufacturing process, although granulation or molding may be used. In order to ensure rapid disintegration and the production of a palatable dispersion, DTs often contain a large range of functional excipients such as fillers, lubricants, disintegrants, sweeteners, dispersion aids and flavourings. The use of co-processed excipients (combinations of two or more excipients, prepared by for example spray drying, wet granulation or cocrystallisation, to modify their physical properties), can reduce the number of excipients required and improve the manufacturability and physical properties of DTs.<sup>44,45</sup>

Although not a conventional dispersible tablet technology, Parvulet<sup>™</sup> technology allows the conversion of a tablet or powder into a gel-like semi-solid through activation with water. To administer the product, the Parvulet<sup>™</sup> tablet may be placed on a spoon and a few mL of water added to form a soft semi-solid for immediate swallowing.



FIGURE 3. Parvulet<sup>™</sup> Technology<sup>46</sup>

Examples of commercially available co-processed excipients that may be used for DTs are provided in **Table 1**.

#### TABLE I Examples of commercially available co-processed excipients1 for DTs

Name and Company	Composition
CombiLac® (Meggle)	70 % alpha-lactose monohydrate, 20 % microcrystalline cellulose, 10 % native corn starch
F-Melt® Type C (Fuji Chemical Industries)	70 % D-mannitol, 10–25 % microcrystalline cellulose, 2–9 % xylitol, 5–13 % crospovidone, 2–9 % dibasic calcium phosphate anhydrous
F-Melt® Type M (Fuji Chemical Industries)	70 % D-mannitol, 10–25 % microcrystalline cellulose, 2–9 % xylitol, 5–13 % crospovidone, 2–9 % magnesium aluminometasilicate
Ludiflash® (BASF)	90 % D-mannitol, 5 % crospovidone, 5 % polyvinyl acetate dispersion
MicroceLac® 100 (Meggle)	75 % alpha-lactose monohydrate, 25 % microcrystalline cellulose
Pharmaburst® 500 (SPI Pharma)	85 % D-mannitol, < 10 % silicon dioxide, < 10 % sorbitol, 5 % crospovidone
SmartEx® (Shin-Etsu)	D-mannitol, polyvinyl alcohol, low-substituted hydroxypropyl cellulose

Note, these co-processed excipients may also be suitable for oro-dispersible tablets, see section 5.1.2.

<sup>1</sup> Co-processed excipients are combinations of two or more excipients, prepared by spray drying, wet granulation or cocrystallisation, to modify their physical properties.

#### 5.1.1.4 Examples of marketed dispersible tablet products

Some examples of marketed dispersible products indicated for use in children are provided in **Table 2**.

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug(s) and Strength	Indication <sup>b</sup>
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Abacavir/lamivudine dispersible tablets	Abacavir 120 mg/Lamivudine 60 mg	Treatment of HIV-1(from 6 weeks)
Amoxicillin Dispersible tablets	Amoxicillin 250 mg and 500 mg	Pneumonia (from 2 months)
Artemether/Lumefantrine dispersible tablets	Artemether 20 mg/Lumefantrine 120 mg	Uncomplicated malaria due to Plasmodium falciparum (children 5 Kg and above; approx. 2-3 months)
Eurartesim <sup>®</sup> Dispersible tablet	piperaquine 320 mg and dihydroartemisinin 40 mg	Uncomplicated malaria due to Plasmodium falciparum (from 6 months)
Lamictal Dispersible tablets	Lamotrigine 2 mg, 5 mg, 25 mg and 100 mg	Adjunctive or monotherapy treatment of partial seizures and generalised seizures (from 2 years)
Paracetamol Dispersible tablets	Paracetamol 100 mg and 250 mg	Pain (from 6 months)
Rifampicin/Isoniazid/Pyrazinamide & Rifampicin/Isoniazid dispersible tablets	Rifampicin 75 mg, Isoniazid 50 mg, Pyrazinamide 150 mg	Capitalize Drug-sensitive tuberculosis disease (3-drug and 2-drug fixed-dose combination) and infection (2-drug fixed-dose combination) (from birth)
SPAQ-CO	Amodiaquine 150 mg Sulfadoxine- Pyrimethamine 500 mg/25 mg	Seasonal malaria chemoprevention (from 1 year)
Sulfamethoxazole/Trimethoprim Dispersible tablets (cotrimoxazole)	Sulfamethoxazole 100 mg/Trimethoprim 20 mg	Pneumocystis pneumonia, prophylaxis against infections in HIV patients (from 1 month)
Tracleer® Dispersible tablets	Bosentan 32 mg	Treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension (from 1 year)
Ucedane <sup>®</sup> Dispersible tablets	Carglumic Acid 200 mg	Treatment of hyperammonaemia due to N-acetylglutamate synthase primary deficiency (from birth)
Zinc Dispersible tablets	Zinc 20 mg (as sulfate)	Diarrhea (from 1 month)

TABLE	2 Examples of mark	eted dispersible table	t products indicated fo	r use in childrenª

Note, FDA may refer to dispersible tablets as Tablets for Oral Suspension.

<sup>a</sup>Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.1.2 Oro-dispersible tablets

Oro-dispersible tablets (ODTs), also known as fast melts, are designed to disintegrate rapidly in the mouth upon contact with saliva. Unlike DTs (see section 5.1.1), they do not require water or another beverage for administration. ODTs are often presented in blister packs.

#### 5.1.2.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

Like DTs, ODTs are generally more stable than liquids, are less bulky and do not require preservatives, although they can be susceptible to moisture and may require moisture protective packaging. ODTs have limited dose flexibility but they are easy and convenient to take, with no manipulation or mixing with fluid required. Since the product can remain in contact with the oral mucosa for up to a minute, ODTs may require the addition of flavouring and/or sweetener to ensure acceptable taste. Other taste-masking strategies

such as the incorporation of coated drug particles can also be employed with ODTs (see also sections 5.1.3 and 5.1.7). Modified release drug particles may also be incorporated, although size needs to be kept to a minimum to reduce grittiness perception.

#### 5.1.2.2 Acceptability of oro-dispersible tablets

Many studies investigating the acceptability and patient preference of ODTs have been conducted in adults, whilst few appear to have been reported in children. For example, ODTs have been shown to be acceptable in children from 2 years of age.<sup>47</sup> A survey conducted in children aged over 6 years reported that ODTs were preferred over liquids, tablets and capsules.<sup>48</sup> However, an investigation into healthcare professionals' opinions on ODTs showed a higher preference for liquids, followed by ODTs.<sup>49</sup> Mouthfeel (grittiness), taste and speed of disintegration are key ODT attributes that can affect acceptability. In addition, as with other solid oral dosage forms, dimensions (size) of the ODT may affect acceptability according to patient age. Oro-dispersible mini tablets (ODMTs) have been developed to combine the benefits of mini tablets (see section 5.1.4) with ODTs and have been clinically evaluated in paediatric patients from birth.<sup>50,51</sup> A study in adults suggested that ODMTs were highly acceptable and easy to take.<sup>52</sup>

#### 5.1.2.3 Examples of oro-dispersible tablet technologies

ODTs are generally manufactured by direct compression, lyophilisation (freeze drying) or compression molding whilst newer technologies including mass extrusion, spray-drying and electrostatic spinning have been investigated.<sup>53,54,55,56,57,58</sup>

The direct compression method is considered to be the cheapest process since it involves a well-established tablet manufacturing process whereby a powder blend of drug and excipients is compressed. ODTs manufactured by direct compression often contain sugars and sugar alcohols (polyols) such as mannitol, xylitol, maltodextrin as these excipients provide good taste and mouthfeel to the product. Furthermore, co-processed excipients, including those discussed in section 5.1.1 and listed in Table 1 may be used. Lyophilized ODTs are manufactured via solvent sublimation from a frozen solution or suspension of API containing matrix forming excipients. ODTs manufactured by this process are very porous and disintegrate very rapidly in the mouth within seconds. However, they tend to be more fragile and moisture sensitive compared to ODTs manufactured via direct compression. In compression molding, a powder blend containing API and excipients is moistened with solvent and compressed into mold plates, which are then air dried.

Examples of commercially available ODT technologies are provided in **Table 3**. Some of these technologies incorporate taste-masking technologies.

Name	Company
Zydis® (Lyophilized)	Catalent
Lyoc® (Lyophilized)	Galien LPS
QuickSolv® (Lyophilized)	Janssen Pharmaceutica
OraSolv® (Direct compression)	CIMA Laboratories Inc.
DuraSolv® (Direct compression)	CIMA Laboratories Inc.
Pharmaburst <sup>®</sup> (Direct compression)	SPI Pharma™
WOWtab <sup>®</sup> (Direct compression)	Yamanouchi Pharmaceutical Co.
Flashtab <sup>®</sup> (Direct compression)	Ethypharm SA
Advatab <sup>®</sup> (Direct compression)	Adare Pharmaceuticals

#### TABLE 3 Examples of commercially available oro-dispersible tablet technologies

#### 5.1.2.4 Examples of marketed oro-dispersible tablet products

Some examples of marketed oro-dispersible products are provided in Table 4.

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug and Strength	Indication <sup>b</sup>
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Calpol® Six Plus Fastmelts	Paracetamol 250 mg	Mild to moderate pain and as an antipyretic (from 6 years)
LAMICTAL ODT	Lamotrigine 25 mg, 50 mg, 100 mg and 200 mg	Adjunctive therapy for partial seizures, primary generalized tonic-clonic seizures and generalized seizures of Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (from 2 years).
Loratadine Orodispersible tablets	Loratadine 10 mg	Symptomatic treatment of allergic rhinitis and chronic idiopathic urticaria (from 2 years)
PREVACID Solu Tab	Lansoprazole 15 mg and 30 mg	Treatment of heartburn and other symptoms associated with gastroesophageal reflux disease, healing and symptom relief of all grades of erosive esophagitis (from 1 year)
Zofran® Melt	Ondansetron 4 mg and 8 mg	Management of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (from 6 months)

#### TABLE 4 Examples of marketed oro-dispersible products indicated for use in children<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.1.3 Multi-particulates

The term multi-particulate (MP) may be used for small solid multiple-unit dosage forms which are usually from 0.05 mm (50 micron) in diameter. Commonly used descriptions for MPs include granules, pellets and beads. Mini tablets (1-3 mm in diameter) are sometimes also referred to as MPs but will discussed in section 5.1.4. MPs may be presented in unit dose packs such as sachets or capsules for opening, or in multi-dose containers.

#### 5.1.3.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

Since MPs are solid dosage forms, they typically have superior stability compared to liquids and semi-solids and are therefore less likely to require temperature-controlled storage and transportation, thus facilitating the supply chain. In addition, the primary packaging used for MP products tends to have a smaller footprint than that of oral liquid medicines. Furthermore, they do not require preservatives to maintain microbiological quality.

MPs are versatile dosage forms that can be used for both immediate and modified drug release and may be administered to the patient in numerous ways including for example in hard gelatin capsules swallowed whole, as "sprinkles" where they are mixed in a beverage or soft food before swallowing, or via direct dosing in the mouth. If intended for mixing in a vehicle for administration, it is important that the MPs are compatible and stable within the vehicle, and that the whole dose is taken. Furthermore, MPs may be reconstituted with water to produce a suspension for administration, although this method of administration is not discussed in this document. MPs may be coated for taste-masking purposes (see section 5.1.7) or to delay drug release (see section 5.1.8).

Flexibility of dosing can be achieved through the application of different sized unit dose packs, or by administering different numbers of unit dose packs. For example, a 4-in-1 abacavir/lamivudine/lopinavir/ritonavir fixed dose combination sprinkle capsule product (under review by the FDA) containing taste-masked granules has been developed (Quadrimune) whereby dose flexibility is achieved by varying the number of capsules administered per dose.<sup>59</sup>

## **FIGURE** 4 Quadrimune "4 in 1" abacavir/lamivudine/lopinavir/ritonavir sprinkle capsule (under review by FDA)<sup>60</sup>



Where MPs are presented in multi- dose containers (e.g. Creon<sup>®</sup>, Viread<sup>®</sup>), dose flexibility is provided through the provision of a measuring device for example a spoon or scoop for dose measurement. A new oral syringe/dispenser type delivery device has been developed to measure and dose MPs in a similar manner to oral liquids. The Sympfiny<sup>®</sup> Multi-Particulate Delivery System comprises a re-usable dispenser with an interlocking tip that automatically seals and interfaces with a specially designed bottle adaptor.<sup>61</sup> Although this device may enable the accurate easy measurement and dosing of MPs, it has not yet been commercialised and cost may potentially be prohibitive for low resource settings.

#### FIGURE 5 Sympfiny<sup>®</sup> Multi-Particulate Delivery System<sup>62</sup>



The X Straw<sup>®</sup> device has been developed by DS Technology for dosing MPs. The straw is filled with a pre-measured dosage of drug pellets or granules and has a special control filter at one end and a cap at the other. The patient dips the straw into a beverage of choice, removes the cap and sucks like a conventional drinking straw. During the drinking process, the filter moves up the straw and pushes the granules upwards which are then swallowed by the patient with the beverage.

MPs may also be incorporated into other dosage forms such as compressed tablets, <sup>63,64,65,66</sup> oro-dispersible tablets<sup>67</sup> and dispersible tablets.<sup>68</sup>

#### 5.1.3.2 Acceptability of multi-particulates

Due to the small dimensions of MPs they are easy to swallow and are generally considered to be acceptable for infants after weaning (from approximately 6 months of age), although they may also be suitable for younger infants and neonates if administered in a liquid vehicle.<sup>69</sup> MPs have been reported to be well accepted in children and to be preferable to a dispersed formulation or oral liquid.<sup>70,71</sup> It should however be noted that particle size, as well as shape, texture, hardness, taste and dose volume (amount) may be critical to MP acceptability.<sup>72</sup> Studies investigating the palatability and acceptability of various quantities of different sizes of MPs in adults administered in vehicles of different viscosities concluded that grittiness scores increased with increasing MP size and dose, whilst grittiness scores were shown to decrease with increasing vehicle viscosity. However very high viscosity vehicles were less preferred. Amount (dose) of MPs appeared to be the most significant factor regarding grittiness perception, followed by MP size.<sup>73,74</sup> The findings of a study in adults and children > 4 years suggest that although subjects were able to swallow the MPs, gritty mouthfeel may be a barrier to patient acceptability.<sup>75</sup> In the LOLIPOP trial of Lopinavir/Ritonavir (40/10mg pellets) plus dual Abacavir/Lamivudine (60/30mg tablets) in HIV infected children, one of the secondary objective was to assess the factors such as palatability that contribute to acceptability of the new 4-in-1 formulation which is now under FDA review. This study once published will provide additional data on acceptability for MPs.<sup>76</sup>

#### 5.1.3.3 Examples of multi-particulate technologies

Commonly used technologies for the manufacture of MPs include extrusion spheronisation, fluid bed granulation (spray agglomeration), hot melt extrusion, drug layering, spray drying, solvent evaporation and spray congealing.<sup>77,78,79,80,81,82</sup> The selection of technology applied depends on several factors including physico-chemical properties of the drug, required dose range and company technical capabilities.

During extrusion spheronisation, a powder blend is mixed with granulating fluid to form a plastic mass of material, which is then extruded under pressure through an orifice to produce extrudates. These are broken into uniform lengths and gradually transformed into spheres during spheronisation. Fluid bed granulation involves the fluidisation of a powder onto which binder solution is sprayed to form agglomerates which are then dried. The production of MPs via drug layering is through the deposition of successive layers of drug on pre-formed particles, whilst during spray drying, a drug solution or suspension is atomized and passed through a hot gas stream resulting in the evaporation of the liquid. The fluidised bed drug layering and coating of small MPs can be challenging due to agglomeration of the particles leading to incomplete and inconsistent coating and low yields. The process has recently been modified and optimised enabling the efficient coating of small particles from approximately 100 µm in diameter (MicroCoat<sup>™</sup>).<sup>83</sup> In spray congealing, drug is dissolved or dispersed in a molten carrier (e.g. lipid-based excipients), which is atomized into small droplets and then cooled to form small particles. Spray congealed particles may have taste-masked and/or delayed release properties, depending on the lipidic excipients used. In addition, spray congealing can be used to improve bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs (see section 5.5.1).

Examples of commercially available MP technologies are provided in **Table 5**.

#### TABLE 5 Examples of commercially available multi-particulate technologies

Name	Company
Complex Perfect Spheres (CPS™) Technology	Glatt GmbH
Micro Pelletising (Micro Px™) Technology	Glatt GmbH
Orbexa™	Adare Pharmaceuticals
Precision Particle Fabrication®	Orbis Biosciences
MicroCoat™	Fluid Pharma

### 5.1.3.4 Examples of marketed multi-particulate products

Some examples of marketed multi-particulate products indicated for use in children are provided in **Table 6**.

#### FIGURE 6 Placebo multi-particulates in a capsule<sup>84</sup>

TABLE	6 Examples of marketed	d multi-particulate products indicated for use in children <sup>a</sup>	
-------	------------------------	---	--

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug and Strength	Indication <sup>b</sup>
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Creon <sup>®</sup> Micro Pancreatin gastro-resistant granules	Pancreatin 60.12 mg (per 100 mg/ scoop)	Treatment of pancreatic exocrine insufficiency (from 1 month)
Depakote® sprinkle capsules	Divalproex sodium equivalent to 125 mg of valproic acid	Monotherapy and adjunctive therapy in the treatment of patients with complex partial seizures and simple and complex absence seizures (from 10 years)
Hidrasec <sup>®</sup> granules for oral suspension	Racecadotril 10 mg and 30 mg (per sachet)	Complementary symptomatic treatment of acute diarrhoea (from 3 months)
Jadenu® sprinkle	Deferasirox 90 mg, 180 mg, 360 mg (per sachet)	Chronic iron overload and thalassemia (from 2 years)
Mylanâ LPV/r granules	Lopinavir 40 mg and Ritonavir 10mg	Treatment of HIV-1 infection (from 3 months)
Nexium <sup>®</sup> gastro-resistant granules for oral suspension	Esomeprazole (as magnesium trihydrate) 10 mg (per sachet)	Gastroesophageal reflux disease (from 1 year)
PENTASA® prolonged release granules	Mesalazine 1 g, 2 g and 4 g (per sachet)	Mild to moderate ulcerative colitis (from 6 years)
Pyramax <sup>®</sup> granules for oral suspension	Artesunate 60 mg and Pyronaridine (phosphate) 180 mg	Uncomplicated P. falciparum and P. vivax malaria (children/infants between 5 and 20 kg, approx. 2-3 months)
REYATAZ <sup>®</sup> hard capsules	Atazanavir 300 mg	Antiviral combination treatment of HIV-1 (from 6 years)
Salofalk <sup>®</sup> gastro-resistant prolonged release granules	Mesalazine 500 mg, 1 g, 1.5 g, and 3 g (per sachet)	Acute episodes and the maintenance of remission of ulcerative colitis (from 6 years)
Tasigna® hard capsules	Nilotinib (as hydrochloride monohydrate) 50 mg, 150 mg, 200 mg	Philadelphia chromosome positive chronic myelogenous leukaemia (from 2 years)
Translarna <sup>®</sup> granules for oral suspension	Ataluren 125 mg, 250 mg and 1000 mg (per sachet)	Treatment of Duchenne muscular dystrophy resulting from a nonsense mutation in the dystrophin gene (from 2 years)

Excludes granule products intended to be reconstituted in a bottle to produce a multi-dose pack oral liquid suspension.

<sup>a</sup>Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.1.4 Mini tablets

Mini tablets are compressed tablets with a diameter of 1-3 mm, although the term "mini tablet" has also been used for tablets 4 mm in diameter. As stated above, mini tablets may be referred to as sprinkles or granules and are often filled into capsules and sachets.

#### FIGURE 7 Placebo mini tablets<sup>85</sup>



#### 5.1.4.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

Unsurprisingly mini tablets have many of the advantages of MPs described above: good stability properties, suitable for immediate and modified release, and flexibility of dosing through the use of different unit dose pack sizes. In addition, mini tablets may also be dosed as a single or a small multiple number of mini tablets per dose (e.g. up to 5) for potent/ low dose drugs, although there do not appear to be any commercialised mini tablet products using this approach yet. One key challenge is the current lack of commercially available mini tablet counting or administration devices. For those that are available, the costs and the possibility of breakage, loss, or becoming unhygienic may present challenges in their use. However, several approaches are under development and it is anticipated that devices will become available in the near future. For example, Philips-Medisize is planning to commercialise its Mini Tablet Dispenser in 2020.<sup>86</sup> This device is mounted on top of a standard tablet bottle and is designed to allow a patient or caregiver to count and dispense mini tablets in predetermined amounts from one to twenty tablets. Balda have developed a Smart Mini Tablet Dispenser (sMTS) for counting and dispensing mini tablets that can be modified according to the product.<sup>87</sup>

#### FIGURE 8 Balda Smart Mini Tablet Dispenser<sup>88</sup>



Another advantage of mini tablets is that they can be manufactured using similar processes and unit operations to traditional conventional sized tablets, although multiple tip tooling is required. Hence it may be possible to utilise already developed tablet formulations and therefore expedite paediatric formulation development. However, drug loading per mini tablet is generally low and good powder flow properties and narrow particle size distribution are required to ensure successful manufacture and acceptable drug content uniformity.<sup>89,90,91,92,93</sup>

#### 5.1.4.2 Acceptability of mini tablets

Several studies have shown the swallowability and acceptability of mini tablets in children. As stated above, mini tablets are considered to be  $\leq$  3 mm in diameter, however 4 mm "mini tablets" have been reported to be well accepted in children aged 1-4 years.<sup>94</sup> Single mini tablets 3 mm in diameter have been shown to be safe for use in children aged from 2 years,<sup>95</sup> whilst single uncoated 2 mm diameter mini tablets have been shown to be as well accepted as 0.5 mL syrup in neonates.<sup>96</sup> Interestingly, uncoated mini tablets appear to be better accepted than syrup in older children from 6 months of age, although if coated, mini tablets may be more appropriate for children aged 1 year and above.<sup>97</sup> It should be noted however that young children may chew mini tablets and therefore break the integrity of any coatings. Multiple (5 or 10) 2- and 3-mm mini tablets in jelly have been shown to be easily swallowed and well tolerated in 2 and 3 year olds<sup>98,99</sup> whilst ≥25 x 2 mm uncoated mini tablets administered with a drink appear to be well tolerated by children from 6 months of age.<sup>100</sup> In addition, mini tablets as "sprinkles" mixed with food or breast milk have been found to be preferable for infants and young children compared to a syrup, although this may have been in part due to ease of transportation and storage. In contrast, older children preferred a tablet formulation. In contrast, older children preferred a tablet formulation.<sup>101</sup> A study in adults suggested that less than5 mini tablets of 3 mm diameter are preferred to 10 mini tablets of the same size. Emerging research suggests that the acceptability of a 2.5 x 6 mm oblong tablet is comparable to the acceptability of three 2 x 2 mm mini tablets, and higher than that of 3 mL syrup in children aged 1 to 6 years.<sup>102</sup>

#### 5.1.4.3 Examples of mini tablet technologies

Mini tablets are developed and manufactured in a similar manner to conventional sized tablets for example using direct compression, wet granulation or dry granulation, depending on the properties of the drug. As noted above, due to the small size of the tablets, stringent controls on the physical properties of the raw materials and powder blend are required to ensure acceptable drug content uniformity.

#### 5.1.4.4 Examples of marketed mini tablet products

Some examples of marketed mini tablet products indicated for use in children are provided in **Table 7**.

TABLE 7 Examples of marketed mini tablet products indicated for use in children<sup>a</sup>

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug and Strength	Indicationb
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Desitrend <sup>®</sup> coated mini-tablets	Levetiracetam 250 mg, 500 mg and 1000 mg (per sachet)	Adjunctive therapy in the treatment of partial onset seizures with or without secondary generalisation in patients with epilepsy (from 1 month)
Lamisil <sup>®</sup> oral mini-tablets	Terbinafine hydrochloride 125 mg and 187.5 mg (per sachet)	Treatment of tinea capitis (from 4 years)
LPV/r pellets	Lopinavir 40 mg and ritonavir 10 mg (per capsule)	Treatment of HIV-1 infection (from 3 months)
Orfiril <sup>®</sup> Long mini-tablets	Sodium valproate 500 mg and 1000 mg (per sachet)	Generalized seizures and partial seizures in epilepsy (from 10 years)

<sup>a</sup>Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.1.5 Oral films

Oral films may be buccal or oro-dispersible and are administered without the need for water. They are typically the size of a postage stamp and usually comprise a film forming polymer which acts as a carrier matrix with drug and other excipients such as plasticizers to ensure film flexibility and flavours/sweeteners to improve palatability. Buccal films are mucoadhesive and can be attached to the oral mucosa where they release drug for local or systemic delivery. Oro-dispersible films are designed to rapidly dissolve or disperse in the mouth for systemic drug delivery.

#### **FIGURE 9** Placebo oro-dispersible film <sup>103</sup>



#### 5.1.5.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

Oral films can be easily administered without the need for water and are portable, although they are unstable in humid environments and therefore require moisture protective packaging. The development of oral film medicinal products is relatively new compared to other more traditional oral dosage forms and therefore manufacturing may require dedicated facilities and therefore be more expensive. Indeed, many patents exist, and new product developments may require to be conducted through partnerships. Flexibility of dosing can be achieved through the administration of different sized films and the concept of personalised dosing has been proposed whereby different lengths of film containing drug or different quantities of drug are printed onto a film according to patient needs.<sup>104,105</sup> Research into devices for measuring and dispensing oral films is on-going.<sup>106</sup> High drug loading for inkjet-printed films can be challenging, especially for low solubility drugs, although printing multiple layers may be possible.<sup>107</sup> Potential drug loading within oral films is also limited; up to approximately 30 % w/w may be incorporated before the properties of the film are adversely affected. Therefore, this dosage form is only suitable for high potency drugs. Oral films generally require the inclusion of a flavour and/or sweetener to ensure acceptable palatability. In addition, as with ODTs, taste-masked and/or modified release drug particles may be incorporated into oral films. Modified release properties may also be achieved by using multi-layered films, an approach which is also amenable to delivery of fixed dose drug combinations. Since drug absorption through the buccal mucosa avoids gastrointestinal absorption, buccal films can be used to systemically deliver drugs that are susceptible to degradation in the stomach, and also avoid hepatic first pass metabolism. Indeed, such films could potentially be used for the delivery of proteins and vaccines.

#### 5.1.5.2 Acceptability of oral films

Appearance, pH, mouthfeel, size (including thickness) and taste are important attributes for oral film acceptability. In addition, perceived stickiness and disintegration in the mouth

can influence acceptability.<sup>108</sup> Oro-dispersible films up to 350 µm and 2x3 cm<sup>2</sup> in size are considered to be acceptable, whilst smaller sized mucoadhesive films (1-2 cm<sup>2</sup>) may be preferred.<sup>109</sup> Ease of taking an oral film and been found by adults to be significantly higher than a tablet, although taste appeared to be similar.<sup>110</sup> A 2x3 cm<sup>2</sup> oro-dispersible film has been found to be acceptable in young children aged from 6 months to 5 years and their caregivers. Acceptability was reported to be especially high in those aged 3 years and above. However, although the majority of subjects swallowed the film, sticking to the teeth, lips or palate resulting in partial spitting out was noted in 15 % of subjects.<sup>111</sup> Non-inferiority of the acceptability of a 2x3 cm<sup>2</sup> oro-dispersible film compared to 0.5 – 3 mL syrup has been reported in neonates and infants aged 2 days to 12 months, with overall superior swallowability of the film.<sup>112</sup>

#### 5.1.5.3 Examples of oral film technologies

Oral films may be manufactured by solvent casting, hot melt extrusion and printing of drug onto film via inkjet or flexography. Solvent casting is the most common and cheapest technique for film manufacture. The film ingredients are mixed or dissolved in an aqueous or hydroalcoholic solvent and the resulting liquid casted onto a surface, e.g. petri dish or liner, dried and cut. Both non-continuous and continuous film manufacturing machines are available. Films can also be manufactured by hot melt extrusion whereby polymer, drug and other excipients are melted, extruded and shaped into a film followed by cooling. During electrospinning, the formulation is pumped through a needle with a controlled flow and charged under a high voltage electric current above an opposite charged collector, producing a highly porous oro-dispersible film. Ink printing technologies for depositing defined doses of drug onto films are gaining interest. For example, flexographic printing which is an off-set rotary printing process allows the printing of drug loaded suspensions and solutions onto oral films. Another printing technique is ink jet printing which enables the digitally controlled formation and placement of small liquid drops of ink (containing drug) onto a substrate, and may be used for multiple drugs.<sup>113,114,115,116,117,118,119,120,121,122,123,124,125</sup> <sup>,126</sup> As mentioned in section 5.1.5.2., multi-layer films may be developed and manufactured to modify drug release. For example, for local therapy, a dissolvable drug matrix film layer can be coated with a mucoadhesive film layer as the mucosal contact layer, allowing drug release into the oral cavity. Conversely, a backing layer may be added to shield the drug layer from the oral cavity thus promoting systemic delivery via transmucosal permeation.<sup>127</sup>

Examples of commercially available oral film technologies are provided in Table 8.

Name	Company	
PharmFilm® (buccal and oro-dispersible)	Aquestive Therapeutics	
Rapidfilm® (oro-dispersible)	tesa Labtec	
VersaFilm® (buccal and oro-dispersible)	IntelGenx Corp.	
BEMA® (buccal)	BioDelivery Sciences	
BIO-FX™ (oro-dispersible)	NAL Pharma	

#### TABLE 8 Examples of commercially available oral film technologies

AdHex Pharma and LTS Lohmann Therapie-Systeme AG also provide oral film development services.

#### 5.1.5.4 Examples of marketed oral film products

Some examples of marketed oral film products are provided in Table 9.

TABLE 9 Examples of marketed oral film products indicated for children and adolescents<sup>a</sup>

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug and Strength	Indication <sup>b</sup>
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Setofilm® (dispersible) ZUPLENZ® (dispersible)	Ondansetron 4 mg and 8 mg	Management of chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting (from 6 months), prophylaxis and treatment of post-operative nausea and vomiting (from 4 years)
		ADULTS and Adolescents (12 - <18 years)
EXSERVAN™ (dispersible)	Riluzole 50 mg	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (adults only)
SUBOXONE® (buccal)	Buprenorphine 2 mg, Naloxone 0.5 mg and 4 mg/1 mg, 8 mg/2 mg and 12 mg/3 mg	Opioid Substitution Therapy (adults only)
BELBUCA™ (buccal)	Buprenorphine 75 mcg, 150 mcg, 300 mcg, 450 mcg, 600 mcg, 750 mcg and 900 mcg	Management of severe pain (adults only)

<sup>a</sup>Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.1.6 Novel oral delivery systems for biologic drugs

Biologic drugs, for example hormones, monoclonal antibodies and nucleic acid, cannot be administered orally as they are prone to degradation in the GI tract and are not readily absorbed. They are therefore generally administered via injection. To overcome this issue, several novel oral drug delivery systems are being developed. For example, an indigestible capsule coated with pH sensitive polymer containing dissolvable drug-containing microneedles is being evaluated. Following ingestion and upon reaching the small intestine, the capsule is designed to release and propel the microneedles into the intestinal wall, thus delivering the drug.<sup>128,129</sup> The RaniPill<sup>™</sup> capsule has also been developed to pass through the stomach and deliver drug to the intestinal wall. When the capsule reaches the intestine, it is activated, and a balloon mechanism pushes microneedles containing the drug into the intestinal wall.<sup>130</sup> Both technologies are at an early stage of development and may be applicable to adolescents but would require further modification (e.g. size reduction) and safety assessment for use in younger patients.

#### 5.1.7 Taste-masking technologies

The taste of a formulation has a significant impact on the palatability of a product, which may be defined as the overall appreciation of an (often oral) medicinal product in relation to its smell, taste, aftertaste and texture (i.e. feeling in the mouth).<sup>131</sup> Aversive or unpleasant taste has been a commonly reported barrier to oral medicine compliance in children.<sup>132,133</sup> Therefore, the application of taste-masking technologies to ensure acceptable palatability and facilitate medication adherence is of key importance for paediatric medicines. It should be noted that caregivers may mix a medicine with food or beverage to improve its taste, although this should be discouraged unless the co-administration with defined foods/ beverages has been evaluated and recommended to facilitate medicine administration (for example MPs).

The mechanism of taste is complex and an area of on-going research. The taste bud is the principal sensory organ of gustation and is composed of groups of between 50 and 100 taste receptor cells, with a network of sensory nerves. When taste cells are stimulated by chemicals binding to their receptors, they depolarize, and this depolarization is transmitted to the taste nerve fibres resulting in an action potential that is ultimately transmitted to the brain. Chemical stimuli, including drugs, must be in solution to reach and stimulate the receptor cells.<sup>134</sup> Various taste masking strategies have been developed to reduce, prevent or block the stimulation of bitter taste receptors and/or the perception of bitterness.

The most commonly used approach for taste-masking oral medicines is the use of sweeteners and/or flavourings, although a "trial and error" technique to determine optimal type and concentration is often needed. Sweeteners may be classified as bulk (sugar alcohols, e.g., sorbitol, mannitol, xylitol) or intense (many times sweeter than sugar, e.g., saccharin, aspartame and acesulfame K (ace K)) and a combination of more than one sweetener may be required. In addition, some sweetener combinations have synergistic activity, for example aspartame with acesulfame potassium. It has recently been reported that cyclamate can inhibit the two human bitter taste receptors responsible for the bitter receptor to cyclamate. Hence mixtures of these two intense sweeteners may decrease some of the bitterness associated with their use. Flavourings are complex mixtures and can be natural or artificial. Selection may be based on several factors including compatibility with the formulation, regulatory acceptability and taste characteristics of the drug. Flavour preferences may vary according to geography and culture and therefore a "taste neutral" product may be preferred to avoid specific flavour recognition and preferences.

As discussed above, since a drug must be in solution to stimulate taste receptors, the intensity of a drug's aversive taste may be reduced by modifying its solubility. However, if such an approach is used, the impact on bioavailability must be considered. For example, the pH of the formulation may be adjusted such that the drug is insoluble in the mouth when ingested. Other approaches include use of a different drug salt, a pro-drug or co-crystal.

Barrier techniques such as complexation or coating may be used to provide taste-masking. Ion exchange resins (IERs) are water insoluble polymers containing acidic or basic functional groups which are able to reversibly exchange counter ions in aqueous media. Drug-IER complexes are designed only to dissociate when in the GI tract. Cyclodextrins are cyclic oligosaccharides that can interact with a variety of molecules whereby whole or part of the guest molecule fits into the cyclodextrin cavity. In addition to providing taste masking, cyclodextrins can increase the bioavailability (see section 5.5.1) and stability of drugs.

Various technologies may be used to apply a physical barrier to a drug or dosage form. Polymer film coating is a well-recognised technique for taste masking oral solid dosage forms such as tablets, capsules and multi-particulates. pH sensitive polymers that remain intact within the oral cavity may be used as well as combinations of water insoluble and water-soluble polymers. Furthermore, lipid-based excipient coatings can be used for taste-masking. Coatings may be applied to dosage forms by fluidised bed or drum coating systems, whilst approaches for coating drug particles include microencapsulation and coacervation. The embedding of drug particles within a polymer or lipid matrix (solid dispersion) may also provide taste-masking, for example by using technologies such as hot melt extrusion, spray drying or spray congealing.<sup>135,136,137,138,139,140,141,142,143</sup>
#### TABLE IO Examples of commercially available taste-masking technologies

Name	Company
Microcaps® (encapsulation)	Adare Pharmaceuticals
Opadry® (polymer coating)	Colorcon
OXPZero™	Oxford Pharmascience
Actimask®	SPI Pharma
Formulcoat® (coating)	Pierre Fabre Medicament

Nanohybrid technology has been used for taste masking whereby nano-ordered composite materials consisting of drug and inorganic materials such as silica, bentonite and alumina are utilised.<sup>144</sup> The excipient Kleptose<sup>®</sup> Linecaps is reported to have taste-masking properties. This consists of spray dried high amylose content pea maltodextrin (40 % amylose, 60 % glucose, oligosaccharides and polysaccharides). In water, linear amylose molecules can form helical structures with an inner hydrophobic cavity. Taste masking may be achieved through drug molecules becoming trapped within the coiled amylose chains.<sup>145</sup>

The concept of bitter blockers to improve the palatability of a product is a growing area of interest. At least 25 different bitter taste receptors have been discovered in humans and bitter receptor antagonists ("bitter blockers") bind competitively to a specific bitter receptor. Bitter blockers are only successful for taste masking if the bitter drug molecule and bitter blocker bind to exactly the same receptor. Examples of bitter blockers include adenosine 5-monophosphate, neohesperidin dihydrochalcone, thaumatin, and sodium salts such as sodium gluconate and monosodium glutamate. In addition to being compound specific, the effectiveness of bitter blockers can vary with age of the taster.<sup>146,147,148</sup>

A recent collaboration between Discovery BioMed Inc. and the Monell Chemical Senses Center is seeking to identify GRAS (generally recognized as safe) materials that can block the off-tastes of life-saving oral medicines (artemisinin, piperaquine, praziquantel and zinc sulfate), to facilitate compliance in paediatric patients. Several stages are involved in the project as follows:

- Human studies will be conducted to determine the oro-sensory and nauseainducing profiles of the selected drugs.
- Cultured human taste cells will be used to identify if bitter, sour or other taste cell types are stimulated by the drugs.
- Those of the 25 different human bitter receptors are activated by the drugs will be identified.
- Sensory cells that respond positively to the drugs will be used to identify potential receptor blockers, via high-throughput screening assays of compounds.
- Compounds identified as potential blockers will be validated *in vitro* using cultured human taste cells and bitter receptors, and *in vivo* by human sensory testing.

#### 5.1.8 Long-acting technologies for the oral route

There are broadly three commonly used approaches for controlling/sustaining drug release from solid oral dosage forms such as tablets, mini tablets, MPs and buccal films. Furthermore, as previously discussed, controlled release MPs may be incorporated in oro-dispersible formulations and powder/granules for constitution into liquids. In matrix systems, drug is encapsulated or dispersed in a polymeric and/or lipidic matrix. Hydrophilic polymers swell in contact with aqueous medium to form a gel and the drug is slowly released via dissolution, diffusion or erosion. In reservoir matrix systems drug particles or dosage forms are coated with a polymer or lipidic membrane that controls drug release rate from the inner matrix. Oral osmotic pump systems operate on osmotic pressure and tend to be applicable for monolithic dosage forms (including implants, see section 5.3.3.2). A core comprising two compartments is surrounded by a semi permeable membrane coating which has an orifice. One compartment contains drug and the other contains an osmotic agent. Fluid enters the dosage form through the semi-permeable membrane and the drug dissolves or becomes suspended. The resulting increase in osmotic pressure causes the drug to be pumped out of the orifice, the rate of which is controlled by the size of the orifice and thickness of the membrane. A combination of approaches may be used and with all polymeric systems, the rate and location within the gastro-intestinal (GI) tract of drug release can be modified according to the properties of the polymer(s). For example, enteric polymers are insoluble in low pHs and hence drug release only occurs in the higher pHs of the small intestine.<sup>149,150,151,152,153,154,155,156,157</sup>

It should be noted that the use of polymers to control or sustain drug release, for example mucoadhesives and hydrogels, can be applied to non-oral routes of administration including the parenteral, rectal, vaginal, nasal and ophthalmic routes.<sup>158</sup> However, the focus of research in this area appears to be for adults.

Gastro retentive oral dosage forms are designed to stay in stomach for longer than normal to maximise drug absorption in the proximal GIT. Mechanisms through which this may be achieved include floating systems, expandable systems, high density systems and mucoadhesive systems. For example, the inclusion of a highly porous layer or a swellable system can be used to ensure the floating of the dosage form on top of the gastric contents, and iron oxide can be incorporated to increase the density of the formulation to increase gastric retention. In addition, the geometry and shape of the dosage form can be modified to optimise retention time and drug release.<sup>159,160,161,162</sup>

A long acting gastro-retentive capsule (Lyndra capsule)<sup>163</sup> has been recently developed that to deliver drug for a week or more. Within the capsule is a folded star-shaped drug containing element. There is a central "core", drug-containing "arms" radiating from the core delivering controlled drug release and disintegrating matrices that join the arms to the core. The capsule dissolves in the stomach and the dosage form unfolds. The drug containing element remains in the stomach and starts to deliver drug to the patient. The disintegrating matrices break down after approximately 7 days and are eliminated via passage through the lower GI tract.<sup>164</sup> This is an emerging technology, being investigated for its use in HIV or malaria with support from BMGF. Its application to children is not foreseen in the near future.

FIGURE IO Lyndra<sup>®</sup> long-acting gastro-retentive capsule<sup>165</sup>



#### 5.2 Rectal route dosage forms

Drug delivery via the rectum may be a useful alternative route to the oral route and unlike injections, does not require administration by a healthcare professional. Examples of rectal dosage forms include liquids (solutions, suspensions or emulsions), semi-solids such as gels, foams, creams and ointments, and solids such as tablets, capsules and powders for reconstitution, and suppositories. The latter appear to be the most commonly available rectal dosage form and are discussed in greater detail below. It should be noted that some of the described advantages and disadvantages of suppositories may also apply to other rectal dosage forms.

#### 5.2.1 Suppositories

Suppositories are single unit solid dosage forms that contain drug solubilised or dispersed in a suppository base. Once inserted in the rectum, drug is released via melting or solubilisation, where it is absorbed by the transcellular and paracellular routes. Suppositories can be used for both local and systemic treatments, the most common being for constipation, analgesia, anti-pyrexia, anti-inflammatory and anti-emesis. In addition, there is growing interest in the use of suppositories for anti-biotics, anti-malarials and anti-HIV microbicides, and indeed rectal artesunate for malaria is currently available and being scaled-up through the Unitaid-funded CARAMAL project lead by the Clinton Health Access Initiative (CHAI).<sup>166,167,168,169,170</sup>

#### 5.2.1.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

Unlike oral drug delivery, suppositories may be used to administer drugs to unconscious or vomiting patients as well as those who have difficulty in swallowing tablets and capsules, for example geriatric and paediatric patients. Suppositories can be used to avoid local gastric irritation and proteolytic enzymes, and taste-masking of aversive tasting drugs is not required. In addition, drug administration via the rectal route can avoid or minimise hepatic first pass metabolism: the lower rectum is drained by the lower (inferior) and middle haemorrhoidal veins directly into the systemic venous circulation thereby avoiding the liver. Although suppositories can be self-administered by the patient or caregiver, it should be noted that correct positioning is important since insertion into the upper rectum

may result in drug absorption into the upper (superior) haemorrhoidal vein which drains into the portal circulation, leading to metabolism in the liver. In addition, the presence of material in the rectum and/or early expulsion of the suppository can lead to incomplete or erratic drug absorption. Suppositories offer limited flexibility of dosing, although dividable stick-shaped suppositories have been developed. The dimensions of suppositories for paediatric use are an important consideration and should not cause discomfort to the patient; rectal dimensions according to age have been estimated to be 3.0 x 6.0 cm for a 3-month-old and 3.5 x 7.0 cm for a 1 year old. Indeed, it has been reported that suppositories should not be used in neonates due to the risk of mucosal damage which may potentially result in infection. The excipients used in suppositories generally have a good safety profile. However, suppositories can melt at temperatures above 30 °C and therefore may require a temperature-controlled supply chain. In addition, glycerol-gelatin based suppositories can absorb moisture and therefore require moisture protective packaging.<sup>171,172,173,174,175,176</sup>

#### 5.2.1.2 Acceptability of suppositories

Limited data are available on the acceptability of suppositories although it is recognised that this may be influenced by geographical and cultural attitudes, and discomfort. Relatively good acceptability of the rectal route for pre-school children compared to the oral route has been reported by parents in Italy, Canada, Switzerland, whilst in contrast, a study in the UK reported the rectal route to be the most unpopular compared to oral delivery or injections.<sup>177</sup> Rectal drug delivery is anticipated not to be preferred by older children and adolescents, which may be due to for example lack of knowledge and perceived potential for misuse.<sup>178,179,180</sup> There has been some documented acceptability issues with healthcare workers with the different types of formulations for suppositories which may affect their utilization.

#### 5.2.1.3 Examples of Suppository Technologies

Suppositories are primarily manufactured using a moulding method whereby the base is heated to above the melting temperature and the drug is dispersed or dissolved in the heated liquid prior to it being dispensed into suppository moulds. There are broadly two types of suppository base, lipophilic and hydrophilic, the selection of which will depend on the properties of the drug to be administered. Lipophilic bases include excipients such as cocoa butter, hydrogenated vegetable oil and hard fats, and are designed to melt within the rectum to release the drug. Hydrophilic bases dissolve in the rectal fluids to release drug and contain glycerol, gelatine or high molecular weight polyethylene glycols. It is possible to incorporate other excipients into the suppository to modify drug release. For example, the inclusion of mucoadhesive polymers can prolong drug release rate by increasing residence time in the rectum. The use of thermo-responsive liquid suppositories has also been investigated, where the product is administered as a liquid but gels at body temperature to form a solid. Bioavailability and absorption enhancing technologies may also be applied to suppositories, for example the use of surfactants, drug nanoparticles and solid dispersions (see section 5.5.1). Hollow-type suppositories contain a hollow cavity that can be filled with solid, liquid or gel. Since both the cavity and shell can contain drug, it is possible to deliver drug combinations and potentially modify the release of each. In addition, due to the manufacturing process, it is possible to incorporate thermo-labile drugs into the cavity. Dimple type suppositories where drugs (e.g. peptides) can be embedded into the dimples on the surface have also been investigated.<sup>181,182</sup> Other solid rectal dosage forms under development include fast dissolving inserts<sup>183</sup> and recto-dispersible tablets.<sup>184</sup>

#### 5.2.1.4 Examples of marketed suppository products

Some examples of marketed suppository products indicated for children are provided in **Table 12**.

Example of Product/Brand Name	Drug and Strength	Indication <sup>b</sup>
		CHILDREN (below 12 years)
Artecap <sup>®</sup> suppositories Artesunate suppositories/ Rectocaps	Artesunate 100 mg	Pre-referral treatment for severe malaria, or as emergency treatment when oral or injectable treatment not possible (from 2 months).
Flagyl <sup>®</sup> suppositories	Metronidazole, 500 mg and 1000 mg	Anaerobic bacterial infections (from 1 month)
Glycerin suppositories	Glycerol 1 g, 2 g and 4 g	Relief of occasional constipation (from 1 month)
Nurofen for Children® suppositories	Ibuprofen 60 mg	Relief of pain and fever (from 3 months)
Paracetamol suppositories	Paracetamol 60 mg, 125 mg, 250 mg, 500 mg and 1000 mg	Treatment of mild to moderate pain and fever (from 3 months)
Prednisolone suppositories	Prednisolone 5 mg	Treatment of haemorrhagic and granular proctitis and the anal complications of Crohn's disease (No lower age limited specified)
Voltarol <sup>®</sup> suppositories	Diclofenac sodium 25 mg, 50 mg and 100 mg	Juvenile chronic arthritis (from 1 year) and for the relief of acute post-operative pain (from 6 years).

#### TABLE I 2 Examples of marketed suppository products indicated for children<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Minimum age provided for lowest product strength.

<sup>b</sup> Indication is given based on product inserts, international recommendations, or other official information although this information may vary dependent on region and/or authorising regulatory authority.

#### 5.3 Parenteral route dosage forms

Parenteral administration of drugs involves their injection in the form of solutions (aqueous or oil-based), suspensions (aqueous or oil-based) or emulsions. Selection of parenteral formulation will depend on the properties of the drug, required doses and intended route. Parenterals may be defined as either large-volume or small-volume. The three most common and well-established routes are the intravenous (IV), intramuscular (IM) and subcutaneous (SC) routes. IV delivery involves the administration of the formulation into a vein and usually results in a rapid response and 100 % bioavailability. Large (up to 500 mL) and small (up to 10 mL) volume formulations may be administered via this route. However, in addition to aspects such as pH and osmolarity, in paediatric patients both the volume and rate of administration need to be carefully controlled to avoid fluid overload. IM delivery involves administration into a muscle and can be used for controlledrelease formulations. Normally IM volumes in children should not exceed 1 mL although smaller volumes may be required for infants and neonates. Similarly, volumes of SC injections which are administered into the subcutaneous tissue should not exceed 1 mL in paediatrics.<sup>185</sup> Miscellaneous routes of parenteral administration include the intra-dermal, intra-arterial and intrathecal routes.

ENHANZE® Drug Delivery Technology has been developed to allow for increased dispersion and absorption of therapies administered subcutaneously. It is based on a recombinant human hyaluronidase PH20 enzyme, which locally degrades hyaluronan in the SC space, allowing larger volumes to be delivered in a single SC injection. Therefore, some biologics and small molecule drugs may be administered SC instead of via IV infusion.<sup>186</sup> The suitability of this technology in paediatric patients is not known.

#### 5.3.1 Advantages and Disadvantages

A key advantage of parenteral formulations is their ability to provide an immediate response (usually by the IV route) in acute medical situations. In addition, they can be used to ensure sufficient bioavailability of drugs that are degraded in the GI tract, for example hormones, and can be administered to patients unable to take drugs orally, for example unconscious patients. It is possible to modify drug release rate using different formulation approaches: generally, IV solutions provide immediate release whilst IM or SC formulations may be longer acting.

Parenteral formulations are sterile and therefore require specialist manufacturing facilities and processes which can be expensive. Although some patients may be able to selfadminister SC injections, trained healthcare professionals are usually required for the administration of IV and IM injections. Parenteral formulations offer flexibility of dosing through the measurement and administration of different volumes however special care is needed when dosing paediatrics where small volumes and/or dilution may be required. Administration via needle can cause pain, which can be a major barrier to patient compliance, especially in paediatric patients. In addition, used needles ("sharps") must be safety disposed of. Since liquid parenteral products are generally less stable than solids, they may require a temperature-controlled supply chain. This may be mitigated by the formulation and use of lyophilized/powder injection products, although these require reconstitution with a sterile liquid (e.g. Water for Injection) before administration.

#### 5.3.2 Acceptability of parenteral products

Although parenteral products have well-established use, few studies investigating their acceptability in paediatric patients appear to have been published. As stated above, a key barrier to parenteral products in children is pain on injection. Indeed, numerous studies have investigated fear and pain associated with needles (and other procedures) and potential intervention strategies for mitigation.<sup>187,188</sup> The dimensions of needles used for paediatric delivery may affect the amount of pain experienced and hence consideration should be given to the size of needle selected.<sup>189</sup> A survey investigating barriers to non-oral formulations in paediatrics reported a high rate (75 %) of barriers to parenteral formulations (IV, IM and SC). These included fear of pain and administration site effects such as bruising and bleeding, difficulty in correct use of the administration device and difficulty with preparation of dose.<sup>190</sup>

#### 5.3.3 Long-acting technologies for the parenteral route

As stated in section 5.1.8, controlled/sustained drug release has several advantages. Recent technological developments for parenteral route dosage forms have focussed on prolonging drug release in order to improve patient compliance, and to simplify mass drug administration campaigns and logistics some examples of which are briefly described below. A key challenge for long-acting injections and depots for paediatric patients is the lack of flexibility in dose adjustment which is often required as a child grows. Furthermore, it is difficult to reverse the effects of the drugs administered, and neonates, infants and young children generally have less muscle mass than adults and depth of muscle and fat layers can vary.

#### FIGURE II Long-acting parenterals<sup>191</sup>



#### 5.3.3.1 Nanosystems and Depots in Long-acting Injectables

Drug nanoparticles may be used as a means by which to increase the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs by virtue of their large surface area which can enhance dissolution and absorption (see section 5.5.1). However, recent research has investigated the development and use of solid drug nanoparticles manufactured using emulsion-templated freeze drying (ETFD, University of Liverpool), for long acting injections for antiretroviral drugs (ARVs). Emulsion-templated freeze drying enables the manufacture of nanoparticles containing polymers and surfactants with very high drug loadings, for example over 70 %. This minimises the injection volumes required to administer the required doses. This process has also been applied to the manufacture of nanoparticles containing newly synthesised semi-solid ARV pro-drugs, which can also prolong drug release rate.<sup>192,193</sup> The University of Liverpool under the Unitaid-funded LONGEVITY project is using this method to develop fit-for-purpose products for malaria chemoprevention, TB prevention and hepatitis treatment for LMICs.<sup>194</sup> An example of a newly available long-acting injectable on the market formulated with nanotechnology is Cabenuva® (ViiV Healthcare), a oncemonthly long-acting regimen consisting of rilpivirine and cabotegravir IM injections, that has recently been approved in Canada for the treatment of HIV-1 infection in adults.

Long-acting (depot) injections have well established use in the areas of hormonal (progestin only) contraception and for the administration of anti-psychotic drugs and are designed to last for several weeks - months. They may be administered IM or SC, depending on the formulation. First generation anti-psychotic formulations were oil-based formulations for IM injection whilst more recent formulations are aqueous-based and can be injected SC or IM. Examples of formulation strategies to prolong drug release include the use of different drug salts, the development of crystalline suspensions, biodegradable polymeric microspheres and nanoparticles.<sup>195,196,197,198</sup> In contrast, nanosized-particles may be used for very poorly soluble drugs with long half-lives to provide depot injections with appropriate drug release properties.<sup>199</sup> Other strategies are proving important for allowing

more drugs to be combined in one formulation such as the Drug Combination Nanoparticle Platform (DcNP) employed by the University of Washington for developing products for HIV treatment, with support from NIH and Unitaid.<sup>200</sup>

In-situ forming systems have been investigated for long acting drug release. In these systems, drug formulations containing biodegradable polymer and water miscible solvent are injected SC after which they solidify *in vivo* to form an implant. Drug is slowly released via biodegradation of the polymer over a period of several months, however, the depot can be removed to terminate treatment. Hydrogels may be defined as 3D hydrophilic polymeric networks with a high affinity for water and other body fluids but are insoluble in them. Hydrogels can be modified such that they are sensitive to external stimuli including temperature, pH, magnetic field, light and glucose and injectable hydrogels have been developed that form sustained drug release depots after administration in response to for example body temperature. The rate of drug release from in-situ forming systems can be controlled by modifying the molecular weight and chemical composition of the polymers. It should be noted that any polymers used should be biodegradable, biocompatible and non-toxic. In-situ gelling injectable hydrogels have been studied extensively for targeted delivery of chemotherapy but may also be applicable for other indications such as diabetes and HIV.<sup>201,202,203,204,205,206,207,208,209,210</sup>

MedinCell BEPO<sup>®</sup> technology is an advanced in-situ forming depot. It uses a combination of two bioresorbable copolymers plus a solvent as excipients. It allows drug release to be adjusted from days to months. An additional benefit is the resulting products have a simple manufacturing process. Currently the technology is being developed for several purposes and notably for long-acting formulations for contraception and for vector control (ivermectin) geared to LMICs, with support from BMGF and Unitaid respectively.<sup>211</sup>



#### FIGURE I 2 MedinCell BEPO® technology<sup>212</sup>

DelSiTech<sup>™</sup> Silica<sup>213</sup> is a silica-based drug delivery system for controlled release, predominantly for parenteral products and local administration. It consists of a matrix of alkoxysilanes containing nanoscale pores with varying numbers of hydroxyl groups and water, into which small molecule drugs and vaccines may be embedded. The matrix can be designed to biodegrade at the required rate to ensure controlled release of the active substance over extended periods of time, via a process of erosion. In addition, the silica encapsulation process can provide stability to vaccines, allowing storage at room temperature.

#### 5.3.3.2 Long-acting implants

Implants have historically been used for long acting hormonal contraception and are designed to last for several months - years. They comprise one or two flexible nonbiodegradable rods (approximately 44 x 2 mm) which are inserted superficially beneath the skin and continuously release low amounts of progestin.<sup>214</sup> Implants may also be used for other indications where long acting therapy would be of benefit. Key advantages of implants include their convenience of use and the elimination of poor treatment adherence. However, they need to be inserted and removed by a trained healthcare professional. Two styles of implants have been described; matrix style whereby a drug is dispersed in a polymer which slowly biodegrades; and reservoir style which have a core containing the drug encased in a polymer membrane to control the release rate of the drug.<sup>215</sup> The safety and biocompatibility of all materials used in implants is of great importance. Other implant delivery systems under development include the Medici Drug Delivery System™ (Intarcia), which comprises a match-stick sized osmotic mini-pump with support from BMGF.<sup>216</sup> In addition, RTI International have been working on a long acting biodegradable implant for HIV prevention in women under the USAID Thin-film Polymer Device Injectable for Prevention Programme,<sup>217</sup> and a match-sized subdermal implant for sustained drug release is being developed by Oak Crest Institute of Science.<sup>218</sup> Further information on implants and and other long-acting technologies mentioned may be found in the Unitaid Long Acting Compendium.<sup>219</sup>

#### FIGURE I3 Long-acting implant.<sup>220</sup>



#### 5.3.4 Needle-free injections

Needle-free injection devices have been developed to deliver drugs, hormones and vaccines subcutaneously, intramuscularly or intradermally. A fine stream of liquid or powder is forced under pressure through a narrow orifice and is able to penetrate the skin. The advantages of such devices include the elimination of the need for "sharps" disposal, reduced risk of needlestick injuries, a reduction in pain at the injection site and the ability of patients to self-administer. However, patients may still experience some discomfort, including a stinging sensation, and dose administered can be variable due to a lack of control of the jet parameters and differences in properties of the skin among individuals.<sup>221,222</sup> Needle-free injection devices are more costly than conventional hypodermic syringes and needles which may be a barrier to their adoption in LMICs, especially as alternatives are emerging. Examples of commercially available needle-free products and devices include InsuJet<sup>™</sup>,<sup>223</sup> ZOMA-Jet,<sup>224</sup> PharmaJet<sup>®225</sup> and Portal Instruments Drug Delivery Platform.<sup>226</sup>

#### 5.4 Transdermal dosage forms

Transdermal drug delivery is a non-invasive alternative to the parenteral route providing therapy in a relatively painless manner which also avoid hepatic first pass metabolism. Common transdermal dosage forms include creams, ointments, gels and sprays which are predominantly used for local treatment, and transdermal patches which may be used for systemic delivery. However, a key challenge with transdermal drug delivery is the limited number of molecules that are able to pass through the barrier properties of the stratum corneum. Examples of commercially available transdermal technologies include Corplex<sup>™</sup> (Corium),<sup>227</sup> Medspray<sup>®</sup> (MedPharm),<sup>228</sup> Micro-Patch self-injectors (Nemaura)<sup>229</sup> and TEPI Patch<sup>®</sup> (Medherant).<sup>230</sup>

Penetration enhancers can be used to improve transdermal absorption by interacting with the skin to create nanosized pores which improve permeability. However, their effectiveness can be limited and depends on the properties of the drug. In addition, the potential for skin irritation needs to be considered. Iontophoresis involves the application of a local electric current and can be used to drive hydrophilic molecules through the skin via the sweat glands and hair follicles. A disadvantage of this technique is the need for a device to generate and apply the required and appropriate current. Nanocarriers have been investigated for their application in combination with physical penetration enhancement techniques such as iontophoresis and ultrasound, to increase percutaneous penetration of drugs.<sup>231</sup> Recent research has shown that the topical use of drug encapsulated carbon (DECON) improved efficacy of the anti-viral acyclovir.<sup>232</sup> A new technology under development for the delivery of both large and small molecules via the skin is microneedles, which is discussed below.

#### 5.4.1 Microneedles

Microneedles are either single or an array (patch) of multiple (up to several thousand) micron sized needles that can penetrate the epidermis and upper dermal layer of the skin but are sufficiently short to avoid stimulation of the pain receptors. They range from approximately  $25 - 2000 \mu$ m in length, several 100  $\mu$ m in diameter and 1-25  $\mu$ m in tip thickness. Arrays of microneedles are attached to a backing such that it can be applied to the skin by hand, whilst single microneedles may be attached to a conventional syringe barrel. Microneedles have been investigated for cosmetic use, in diagnostics (e.g. for sampling small volumes of blood and interstitial fluids) and for the delivery of small and macromolecules including hormones and vaccines. Examples of the latter include vaccines for influenza, adenovirus, anthrax, hepatitis B, smallpox, malaria, measles, polio, rabies, HIV and West Nile virus.<sup>233,234,235,236,237,238</sup>

#### 5.4.1.1 Advantages and disadvantages of Microneedle

Microneedles have shown the ability and potential to successfully deliver numerous small and large molecules. Unlike drug delivery via injection using hypodermic needles that is often painful and produces biohazardous waste ("sharps"), microneedles generally cause little if any pain, and can be easily disposed of. Furthermore, microneedles are easy to use and can be self-administered. An additional benefit is a simplified supply chain compared to conventional injectables since microneedles have a low bulk footprint and generally do not require cold (refrigerated) storage. The need for reconstitution before administration as required by many parenteral vaccines is also eliminated with microneedles, thus reducing cost and complexity. However, there are some disadvantages with microneedles. For example, mild skin irritation and erythema may occur with their application and there is a risk of infection caused by microneedle holes, although this is likely to be minimal. It may be costly and challenging to sterilise microneedles, especially since terminal sterilisation could damage them. It has also been reported that microneedles may have lower dose accuracy and greater variation in drug delivery compared to parenteral injections depending on the condition of the skin. Since this is an emerging technology, pharmaceutical development guidelines for microneedles have yet to be defined although it is recognised that the safety and toxicity of microneedle materials, including their degradation products need to be evaluated. Further optimisation of microneedle manufacturing processes is required to ensure reproducible and accurate drug delivery at affordable cost.<sup>239,240,241,242,243,244,245,246,247</sup>

#### 5.4.1.2 Acceptability of microneedles

Important attributes linked to the acceptability of microneedles include perceived or actual reduction in pain and ease and convenience of use. In contrast, barriers to microneedle acceptance may include unfamiliarity, potential for allergy and use of the word "needle" in name. The public and healthcare professionals are reported to have a positive perception of microneedles for use in children, especially for those who must inject frequently. In addition, positive responses from children regarding the use of microneedles as an alternative for blood sampling have been reported, as well as insulin delivery via microneedles being less painful than conventional administration methods. However, paediatricians have expressed concern regarding the potential for microneedles to cause skin irritation and consider them to be unsuitable for preterm neonates due to their immature skin. Interestingly over 75 % of healthcare professionals questioned expressed a preference for microneedles over conventional immunisation administration techniques. Furthermore, almost all adults participating in studies evaluating the acceptability of Intanza influenza vaccine given intradermally via a microneedle device (Soluvia<sup>®</sup>)<sup>248</sup> were satisfied or very satisfied and indicated a preference for being vaccinated by this method. In contrast, the microneedle device MicronJet® was not perceived to be better than a conventional syringe for multiple vaccinations at a single visit. It is suggested that this may be partly due to the appearance of the device since it comprises four microneedles attached to a standard syringe barrel.<sup>249,250</sup>

#### 5.4.1.3 Examples of microneedle technologies

Microneedles can be classified into several different types, each with different mechanisms of drug delivery, as briefly described below. The materials used for their manufacture will depend on type of microneedle and properties of the drug, although all materials must be biocompatible. Commonly used materials include metals, ceramics, silicon, carbohydrates, sugars and both non-degradable and biodegradable polymers including hydrogels. Various techniques for microneedle manufacture have been investigated and developed including laser cutting, etching, micro-molding, lithography, 3D printing and droplet air born blowing.

Solid microneedles use the "poke and patch" approach for drug delivery whereby solid microneedles are applied to the skin to produce pores or micro-scale channels in the stratum corneum, after which they are removed, and a drug formulation subsequently applied (e.g. drug loaded patch). The drug permeates from the formulation through the microchannels via passive diffusion. Coated microneedles are solid microneedles coated with a water-soluble drug formulation and follow a "coat and poke" approach. On application, the drug is deposited in the skin and after the coated microneedles are removed, the drug dissolves and is absorbed. Since only low drug loadings are possible with coated microneedles, this approach is applicable for potent, low dose molecules, including vaccines. Hollow microneedles allow the flow of a drug solution or dispersion via active infusion or diffusion into the skin through the needle bores upon insertion, using a "poke and flow" approach. Hydrogel-forming microneedles start to swell upon application due to the uptake of interstitial fluid, and as a result of this they become a

rate-controlling membrane. Drug applied (via a patch) diffuses through the swollen microneedles into the skin. Dissolving and degradable microneedles are composed of drug incorporated within materials such as sugars and polymers which dissolve or degrade after insertion and upon contact with skin interstitial fluid to release the drug. This approach has been referred to as "poke and release". The rate of drug release can be controlled by modifying the swelling and/or degradation profiles of the polymers used. Unlike the other microneedle types, these microneedles do not need to be removed from the skin after application.<sup>251,252,253,254,255,256,257,258,259,260,261,262,263,264</sup>

**FIGURE I4** Placebo microneedle patch<sup>265</sup>



Examples of commercially available microneedle technologies are provided in **Table 12**.

Name	Company
Macroflux® (drug coated)	Zosano Pharma
MicronJet® (hollow)	NanoPass Technologies Ltd
AdminPen™ (hollow)	AdminMed nanoBioSciences LLC
DrugMat <sup>™</sup> and VAXMat <sup>™</sup> (dissolving)	TheraJect Inc
Microneedle patch technology (dissolving)	Micron Biomedical Inc
MicroCor® (dissolving)	Corium Inc
3M™ Hollow Microstructured Transdermal System (hollow) Solid Microneedle Technology (solid)	ЗМ
Dermapen® (solid) (dermal/cosmetic use)	Dermapen
Dissolving microneedle patch (dermal/cosmetic use)	Nissha

TABLE I 2 Examples of commercially available microneedle technologies

#### 5.4.1.4 Examples of marketed microneedle products

There appear to be very few currently marketed medicinal microneedle products, and several microneedle vaccine products seem to have been discontinued reasons unknown, for example Soluvia<sup>®</sup>.

Fluzone<sup>®</sup> Intradermal Quadrivalent (Sanofi) is an intradermal vaccine injection indicated for active immunization for the prevention of influenza disease caused by influenza A subtype viruses and type B viruses contained in the vaccine (adults only). Micron Jet<sup>®</sup>600 (NanoPass Technologies Ltd.) is a microneedle-based device for injecting fluids and is indicated for the intradermal injection of any substances or drug approved for delivery by this route.

#### 5.5 Examples of supportive technologies

Examples of technologies that may be applied to more than one dosage form type and/or route of administration and which may have relevance for paediatric product development are discussed below.

# 5.5.1 Technologies for enhancing the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs

Many drugs have poor aqueous solubility which can lead to limited absorption and poor bioavailability. Therefore, several strategies and technologies have been developed and employed to increase *in vivo* dissolution and absorption. By increasing the bioavailability of a drug, it may be possible to reduce the required dose, and therefore the unit dose size or volume of a formulation, which can be of benefit to paediatric patients.

Water-soluble organic solvents (e.g. glycerol, polyethylene glycol 400, propylene glycol) and /or surfactants (e.g. polysorbate, sorbitan monooleate) have been used to increase the solubility of drugs in oral liquid products.<sup>266</sup> Other approaches to increase drug dissolution include the use of different drug salts, alteration of pH complexation and increasing the surface area of drug particles by reducing particle size via for example micronization or nano-milling. As discussed in section 5.1.8, cyclodextrins are cyclic oligosaccharides which have a cone-like structure and are able to form inclusion complexes with other molecules, which can lead to an increase in drug solubility and bioavailability. Drug dissolution and bioavailability may be enhanced by the modification of drug crystal habit through the preparation of the amorphous form of the drug, and the preparation of co-crystals, solid dispersions and nanocrystals. In addition, various lipid formulations have been shown to increase the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs. <sup>267,268,269,270,271,272,273,274,275,276,277,278,279</sup> Some of these technologies are discussed below.

Drug nanocrystals are nanoscopic crystals with a diameter of less than 1 µm whose use can lead to an increase in dissolution rate and bioavailability. Nanocrystals can be manufactured by a top-down approach whereby drug crystals are mechanically size reduced for example by milling, by a bottom-up approach whereby the nanocrystals are formed from a solution for example via recrystallisation or precipitation, or by using a combination of both. Nanocrystals are often formulated into nanosuspensions which are dispersions of very fine colloidal drug particles stabilised with surfactants in an aqueous vehicle. The average particle size of nanosuspensions is between 200 – 600 nm; particles less than 150 nm in size should not be administered since they may be internalised by cells via pinocytosis which can potentially cause cytotoxicity. Nanosuspensions have the advantage of being appropriate for delivery via various routes of administration including the oral, parenteral, ocular, rectal and topical routes and may potentially be formulated into liquid, semi-solid and solid dosage forms. However, they can be prone to chemical and physical instability for example agglomeration, sedimentation, Ostwald ripening and changes in the crystalline form of the drug.<sup>280,281,282,283,284</sup>

A key challenge to nanoparticle technology is the scale-up of the manufacturing process. Flash NanoPrecipitation is a new stabiliser directed raid precipitation process to produce nanoparticles. It uses engineered mixing geometrics to produce nanoparticles with controlled particle size anywhere between approximately 50 and 500 nm, with a narrow size distribution. Amphiphilic stabilisers and hydrophobic drugs are molecularly dissolved in an organic phase and mixed rapidly with an antisolvent stream to drive controlled precipitation. Since this is a continuous process, large batches of material may be produced by increasing the running time. Following precipitation, dried powder is obtained by spray drying, which may then be formulated into dosage forms.<sup>285,286</sup> Other nanotechnologies are being investigated to enhance drug delivery. For example, drug-loaded mesoporous silica nanoparticles<sup>287</sup> and site-specific drug-loaded nano meshes comprising 200 nm diameter fibres produced using electrospinning.<sup>288</sup>

Solid dispersions are solids consisting of a hydrophobic drug dispersed in at least one hydrophilic carrier, (often polymeric), resulting in enhanced surface area and increased drug solubility and dissolution rate. The term amorphous solid dispersion (ASD) is used where the drug is embedded in the polymeric solid matrix in an amorphous form, which can have increased solubility compared to the crystalline form of the drug. Dissolution from solid dispersions is influenced by drug load, homogeneity, drug-polymer interactions and the presence of surfactants. It should also be noted that crystallisation of the drug can occur on storage potentially resulting in reduced solubility. Solid dispersions and ASDs are commonly manufactured by spray drying or thermal methods. As outlined in section 5.1.3.4, for the spray drying process, the drug is dissolved in a polymer matrix using organic solvents. The resulting liquid is pumped into a drying chamber through a nozzle where the fine droplets are dried to form particles, and the dry powder and wet gas are separated. Hot melt extrusion is a frequently used thermal process whereby solid materials are fed into an extruder barrel where they are mixed and heated causing them to melt. The melted soft materials are then forced through a die for further processing. During the process the drug is melted or solubilised in a polymeric carrier to form an amorphous dispersion. Solid dispersions and ASDs may be incorporated into dosage forms such as tablets and oro-dispersibles. Spray drying has the disadvantage of requiring organic solvents, whilst hot melt extrusion is not suitable to heat labile drugs. Kinetisol® technology is a process adapted from thermokinetic mixers and utilizes high shear to produce ASDs without extended periods of heating or the need for solvents.<sup>289,290,291,292,293</sup>

Lipid based formulations have been investigated for their ability to increase the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs. The administration of lipids results in the secretion of bile salts, phospholipids and cholesterol which may enhance the solubility of any co-administered drugs in the GI tract and thereby increase absorption through acceleration of the drug dissolution process. In addition, lipid formulations may impact intestinal permeability, inhibit efflux transporters and facilitate drug transport via the lymph system. Examples of lipid formulations include oil solutions and suspensions, liposomes, emulsions (including micro-and nanoemulsions), self-micro- and self-nano-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SMEDDS and SNEDDS) and solid lipid nanoparticles. In addition, as described above, solid dispersions may be formulated using lipid-based carriers instead of polymers.

Liposomes are spherical phospholipid bilayer structures which are hydrophobic on inside and hydrophilic on outside. It is possible to embed drug inside vesicle or in the fatty layer. Liposomes can be used for oral, topical, transdermal and parenteral delivery. Niosomes are structurally similar to liposomes but manufactured from non-ionic surfactants rather than phospholipids. Self-emulsifying drug delivery systems (SEDDS) contain drug solubilised in an oily (lipid) vehicle mixed with surfactants, cosurfactants and cosolvents. They can emulsify spontaneously to form fine o/w emulsions in aqueous media with agitation. The size of the droplets formed determines the naming of the emulsion; SMEDDS (micro) contain droplets between 100 and 250 nm in size whilst the droplets in SNEDDS (nano) are less than 100 nm in size. Most SEDDS are liquids or semi-solid and are filled into gelatin capsules for administration. However, it is possible to prepare solid SEDDS by adsorbing them onto porous solid carriers such as silicon dioxide, calcium silicate or magnesium alumino-metasilicate, which can then be formulated into tablets or pellets/granules. It should be noted that extent of drug release from such carriers can vary and may depend on the pore size of the silica carrier. Solid lipid nanoparticles (SLNs) are typically spherical particles 10 – 1000 nm in size with a solid lipid core stabilised by surfactants than can solubilise the drug thereby increasing bioavailability. Aqueous re-dispersible SDNs with high drug loading (> 50 %) have recently been manufactured by emulsion spray drying and are under evaluation. Lipid solid dispersions may be manufactured by spray congealing, whereby drug in a melted lipid carrier is sprayed into a cooling chamber maintained below the melting point, and on contact with air, the liquid congeals to form spherical particles. Lipid based granules or pellets may also be manufactured by melt granulation where a meltable lipidic binder is sprayed on or mixed at high shear rate with a powder blend.<sup>294,295,296,297,298,299,300,301,302,303,304,305</sup>

Milk contains between 3 and 6 % fat, 98 % of which comprises triglycerides. Hence the use of milk as a lipid-based formulation component for increasing the solubility and bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs has gained interest in recent years.<sup>306,307,308,309,310,311</sup>

Other technologies that may increase dissolution rate and bioavailability include the cogrinding of drug with pharmaceutical polymers or amorphous magnesium aluminosilicate. Mesoporous silica has very high surface area and pore volume which is thought to enhance the dissolution of drugs loaded on to these materials.<sup>312,313,314,315,316</sup> The application of electrospinning is being investigated for use in medicinal products, for example, orodispersible dosage forms (see section 5.1.5.4). The technology is based on the impact of a high electric field on drug-containing polymer solutions which generates polymer fibres in the submicron scale when the electric forces overcome the surface tension of the solution. For example, fibres with diameters between 100-300 nm have been produced. The fibres have a huge surface area which can lead to an increase the dissolution rate of poorly soluble drugs.<sup>317</sup>

#### 5.5.2 3D Printing

3D printing (3DP) is an alternative manufacturing process for individualised dosage forms and may be defined as the production of a solid 3D object using a layer-by-layer process. 3DP is sometimes referred to as additive manufacturing and encompasses a range of different printing technologies. For example, fused deposition modelling involves the deposition of thin strands of melted polymer from a filament (often produced by hot melt extrusion), onto a build plate to form a layer. The process is repeated to build up the final object. During 3DP via pressure assisted microsyringe, a semi-solid formulation is extruded by pressurized air through a nozzle. Most formulations using this technique are solvent based and so a drying step in the process is required. In powder bed inkjet printing (binder jetting), a layer of powder is spread onto a plate followed by the addition of binder solution to bind the particles together and the process repeated, whilst in selective laser sintering, a laser is used to sinter the particles together instead of a binder solution. High resolution objects may be produced by this method although the potential for drug degradation due to the energy from the laser needs to be considered. Stereolithography is based on the solidification via polymerisation of a liquid resin by using a source of light. This method is also able to produce high resolution objects although a limited number of materials may be used. 318, 319, 320, 321, 322

Since 3D objects are created from a pre-defined digital file which can be varied, numerous different dosage forms can be produced. Examples of 3DP dosage forms that may be suitable for paediatrics reported in the literature include mini tablets ("mini printlets"),<sup>323,324,325,326</sup> chewable tablets,<sup>327</sup> oral films,<sup>328,329,330,331,332</sup> oro-dispersibles,<sup>333</sup>

microneedle patches, suppositories and polymeric implants.<sup>334,335</sup> It is possible to modify drug release characteristics by using different polymers. In addition, 3DP can be used to produce bilayer or multi-compartment dosage forms (tablets) with more than one drug, each with a different release rate ("polypill"). <sup>336,337,338,339</sup> Thus, fixed dose combination products may be manufactured. As 3DP objects are produced by combining or depositing layers of material on a substrate, it may be possible to avoid drug incompatibilities by incorporating each drug in a separate layer.

A key advantage of 3DP is that personalised medicines tailored to the individual needs of the patient can be produced, potentially at the point of care (e.g.in a hospital or healthcare facility). Hence dose requirements can be easily met. It has also been found that commercial printers may be used although some modifications may be required. However, since this is an emerging technology for pharmaceuticals, regulatory requirements are evolving and may be unclear. Indeed, more focus appears to have been applied to the 3D manufacture and control of medical devices compared to drug products. In addition, the safety of any polymers used must be confirmed in the proposed patient population. For LMICs, the cost effectiveness of 3DP may be a challenge, especially due to the potential cost of production and intellectual property rights. A pharmaceutical 3D printer has recently been launched, M3DIMAKER™ for the manufacture of personalised medicines.<sup>340</sup>

The patient acceptability of 3DP dosage forms will very much depend on their characteristics. An exploratory study to investigate the influence of shape, size and colour on the acceptability (willingness to take, ability to swallow and opinions) of different placebo 3DP tablets in adults found that familiar shapes such as capsules and discs were acceptable, in addition to a novel torus shaped tablet.<sup>341</sup>

Currently only one 3DP drug product has been approved; Spritam<sup>®</sup> (levetiracetam) tablets for oral suspension.<sup>342</sup> This product is manufactured using proprietary ZipDose<sup>®</sup> Technology (Aprecia Pharmaceuticals).

# © KEY CONSIDERATIONS FOR APPLICATION OF INNOVATIVE DELIVERY SYSTEMS

As discussed in section 4, some the key challenges associated with the development and supply of paediatric medicines to LMICs include climatic conditions, fragmented supply chain, small market size, and cost.<sup>343</sup> A summary of key considerations for the dosage forms discussed above pertaining to their appropriateness for paediatric patients in LMICs and their potential application to LMICs is provided in **Table 13**.

TABLE I 3 Summary of key considerations of potential paediatric dosage forms for limited-resource settings

Dosage Form	Age-appropriateness <sup>1</sup>	Limited-resource settings considerations
Oral routes		
Dispersible tablets (DTs)	From birth (reconstituted)	Undispersed DTs more stable and less bulky than liquids but may require moisture protective packaging. Limited dose flexibility although easy and simple to prepare and administer. No measuring required. Well established, non-complex development and manufacturing process with commonly available and relatively cheap excipients, unless novel/proprietary technology used. DT dimensions may be large for high dose drugs.
Mini tablets (1-3 mm)	Uncoated from birth, coated from 6 months	More stable and less bulky than liquids. Limited dose flexibility: commercial counting/ measuring devices are under development. Suitable for immediate and controlled release and may be taste masked. Can be administered as a direct dose or mixed with soft food. Well established, non-complex development and manufacturing process with commonly available and relatively cheap excipients. Limited drug loading per mini tablet and so multiple mini tablets required per dose for high dose drugs.
Multi-particulates (MPs) (granules, pellets, sprinkles)	From birth if mixed with liquid, or from weaning (approx. 6 months)	More stable and less bulky than liquids. Limited dose flexibility unless supplied with a measuring device. Can be immediate release, controlled release and/or taste masked. Can be administered directly or mixed with soft food/beverage and incorporated into other oral dosage forms (e.g. DTs, ODTs). Drug combinations may be achieved by mixing different drug-loaded MPs. Numerous manufacturing processes available; cost and drug loading will depend on method selected. Quantity of MPs per dose may be large for high dose drugs.
Oral films (oro- dispersible and buccal)	Oro-dispersible from birth Buccal – not known	Lower bulk footprint than liquids and portable but susceptible to high humidity and require moisture protective packaging. Limited dose flexibility although easy and convenient to administer with no mixing or preparation required. Can be used for modified release and drug combinations through multi-layered films. Requires specialized development and manufacturing facilities which may be costly. Limited drug loading and so unsuitable for high dose drugs. Buccal films avoid hepatic first pass metabolism and may be suitable for vaccine administration.
Oro-dispersible tablets (ODTs)	Depends on tablet dimensions; mini oro- dispersible tablets acceptable from birth	More stable and less bulky than liquids but may require moisture protective packaging. Limited dose flexibility although easy and convenient to administer with no mixing or preparation required. Direct compression method of manufacture relatively cheap. Other development and manufacturing processes e.g. lyophilization may be more complex and expensive but produce ODTs with quicker disintegration times. ODT dimensions may be large for high dose drugs.

Dosage Form	Age-appropriateness <sup>1</sup>	Limited-resource settings considerations
Non-oral routes		
Long-acting (depot) injections (IM or SC)	No data	Liquid injection products are less stable and generally bulkier than solid dosage forms; lyophilised powder products have greater stability and are easier to transport but may be more expensive to develop and manufacture than liquids and require constitution before administration. Sterile products require specialised manufacturing facilities. Potential lack of dosing flexibility and may require a healthcare professional to perform administration. Risk of sharps injury and the need for safe sharps disposal and wastage management. May require large volume for high dose drugs. Infrequent administration required (weeks/ months) which can improve medication adherence, especially for long-term therapies, and simplify complex mass drug administration campaigns, reducing burden on healthcare professionals and care-givers.
Long-acting implants	No data	May have better stability compared to liquids and a lower bulk footprint. Development process can be complex and requires specialised manufacturing facilities. No dosing flexibility and may require large implant for high dose drugs. Requires a trained healthcare professional to insert and remove the implant. Infrequent administration required (months/years) which can improve medication adherence, especially for long term therapies, reducing burden on healthcare professionals and patients.
Microneedles	From birth	Potentially better stability than liquids (depending on microneedle material) and low bulk footprint. Low dose flexibility but are easy to use and can be self-administered or administered by caregiver. Dosing can be more precise if microneedles are embedded in patches (which can be made to size). Less painful than injections with needles, with no need for sharps disposal. Requires specialized development and manufacturing facilities which may be costly. Can be used for controlled drug release. May be unsuitable for high dose drugs due to limited drug loading but may be suitable for vaccine administration.
Needle-free injections	No data	Powder products have better stability compared to liquids. May require specialist development and manufacturing facilities and devices can be costly and bulkier than conventional parenteral products and administration devices. Can be self- administered and less painful than injections with needles, with no need for sharps disposal.
Suppositories	From 1 month	Can have limited stability in high humidity/ temperature and may require moisture protective packaging but have low bulk footprint compared to liquids. Limited dose flexibility. Can be self- administered or administered by caregiver. Provides a treatment route when children are unable to swallow oral formulations or when parenteral formulations are not available. Reasonably well established, non-complex development and manufacturing processes with commonly available and relatively cheap excipients. Can deliver high drug doses.

 $^{\rm 1}{\rm Based}$  on literature evidence for patient acceptability, where available

IV – intravenous; IM- intramuscular; SC – subcutaneous

With these considerations, the different delivery systems and approaches have been categorized by their availability or how close they are to being available to be taken to scale for any given condition. Those technologies that could be ready for "immediate" intervention and investment in the next couple of years are considered near-term. Whereas, those technologies that require more investment and R&D to mature are considered medium to longer-term opportunities for application into medicines required for paediatric patients in LMICs. This is illustrated in **Figure 12** and discussed in sections 6.1 and 6.2 respectively.

Longer-term (7yrs +)	Medium-term (3 – 6 yrs)	Short-term/market (1 – 2yrs)
Needle-free injections	Oral films	Dispersible tablets (DTs)
Microneedles	Long-acting oral products	Oro-dispersible tablets (ODTs)
	Long-acting implants*	Multi-particulates (MPs)
	3-D Printing	Mini-tablets (1-3 mm)
No data for age appropriateness		Long-acting depot injections*
Oral Route		Suppositories
Non-oral Route		Taste-masking technologies
Supportive technologies		
Available products in LMICs		Enhanced bioavailability

**FIGURE 15**. Potential opportunity for application of innovative delivery systems and supportive technologies for children in LMICs

#### 6.1 Near-term dosage form and technology opportunities

There are near-term opportunities for the development of age-appropriate solid oral dosage forms. Dispersible tablet (DT) formulations have been developed for diseases of interest in Low to Middle-Income Countries (LMIC) and continue to be a valuable platform for paediatric patients. Oro-dispersible tablets (ODTs) may offer a potential alternative and enable ease of dosing directly in the mouth without the need for product manipulation such as dispersion in water. The technologies commonly used for ODT development and manufacture are well established. However, the maximum dose of drug per ODT according to patient age may be limited by the need to ensure ODT dimensions are sufficiently small to minimise the risk of choking. Therefore, it may be necessary to utilise bioavailability-enhancing technologies to reduce dose size and ODT dimensions. Multi-particulates (MPs)

<sup>\*</sup>pipeline contains only application for older ages

also offer near-term opportunities for paediatrics in LMICs: numerous MP technologies are available, many of which are well established. Method of manufacture can be selected based on the properties of the drug, required dose and release profile, and the ability to modify drug release and apply taste masking can be of benefit. Mini tablets can offer similar opportunities to MPs. However, since only a low drug loading may be achieved per mini tablet, it may be necessary to administer a large number for high dose drugs, which may lead to palatability issues. Hence, mini tablets may be more suitable for low-medium dose drugs.

Development of suppositories for LMICs has gained interest and is another potential nearterm opportunity, especially with recent research into thermostable and prolonged release polymers for the rectal route. Another dosage form with near-term potential is long acting (depot) injectables, having well-established use, albeit mostly in adults. It should be noted, however, that such formulations may be less appropriate for neonates and infants, and their safety and efficacy in these patient groups needs to be confirmed.

Well established technologies for controlling and delaying release (for example, utilisation of polymers and lipids) and for enhancing the bioavailability of poorly soluble drugs (for example, through the preparation of the amorphous form, solid dispersions and nanocrystals, and application of lipidic excipients) are all considered to provide near-term opportunities. These technologies can be applied to many of the dosage forms described to optimise product performance, with a clear advantage on those such as patches that can enable administration by caregivers. Furthermore, conventional taste- masking technologies such as coating and complexation provide near-term opportunities.

#### 6.2 Medium to long-term dosage form and technology opportunities

Further evaluation of the safety and acceptability of the following dosage forms and technologies in paediatric patients are required, as well as the feasibility for cost-effective commercialisation. Both oro-dispersible and buccal films may present medium term opportunities for paediatric patients in LMICs. They offer the advantages of being portable, have a low bulk footprint and are easy to administer, however, their limited stability in humid climates may be a challenge as well as low drug loading. For oral films to become more commercially viable for LMICs, their methods of manufacture need to become cheaper and the equipment required more readily available.

Progress is being made in the development of long acting implants. Although they can provide a huge benefit to patients on long-term therapies, there appears to be little research on their suitability for and safety in young children. Indeed, it may be possible to modify and reduce the size and drug loading of implants intended for adults. However, modification in the dose of drug released according to child growth is a key challenge and therefore long-acting implants may be more appropriate for adolescents than young children.

Although several needle-free injections are commercially available, their current cost and size may prohibit their application to LMICs, and alternative technologies may in the longer term be more appropriate. Microneedles have shown potential for the non-invasive delivery of drugs and vaccines and offer a valuable alternative to oral delivery, administration via needle injection and jet-injectors. However, the processes for manufacturing, testing and controlling microneedles need to be optimised before they can be clinically and commercially viable. Recent research into the development of delivery systems for the oral administration of dissolvable microneedles may in future provide an opportunity for

delivering vaccines and other biologic drugs orally. However, this work is currently at an early stage of development, and hence is likely its application to paediatrics is currently somewhat distant.

Various new technologies to prolong drug release may provide opportunities for drug delivery to paediatric patients. For example, injectable hydrogels, including those that solidify in-situ to form an implant, may offer a potential option for sustained drug delivery in paediatric patients. Indeed, the application of degradable hydrogel implants is likely to be less invasive than long acting sub-dermal implants. Gastro-retentive technologies show promise, especially for older children. The dimensions and physiology of the GI tract in paediatrics differs to that of adults and varies according to age and stage of development. Therefore, the safety and efficacy of gastro-retentive technologies need to be fully investigated in children.

Nanosystems also show the potential for medium-long term opportunities for paediatric development to enhance drug delivery. For example, solid drug nanoparticles with high drug loadings and silica-based systems. Flash NanoPrecipitation shows promise for the large-scale manufacture of nanoparticles, which can then be incorporated into various dosage forms.

The identification and utilisation of materials able to block the bitter aversive taste of drugs has the potential to greatly increase the palatability of paediatric formulations and enhance patient compliance. Although bitter blocker technology is likely to be drug specific, it offers significant benefits if applied to key drugs used for the treatment of major LMIC diseases.

Increased interest has emerged in the use of 3D printing for the manufacture of medicines, especially since the regulatory approval of a 3D printed drug product. 3D printing can produce personalised medicines according to the patient's needs, and hence this may have benefits for paediatric patients by ensuring their dose requirements are met. In addition, rate of drug release can be modified, and multiple drugs can be incorporated into one dose unit. Although this technology shows promise, manufacturing can be costly, and the safety of the polymers used in paediatrics needs to be evaluated.

In order to maximise potential opportunities, collaboration of different research groups should be encouraged so that expertise and promising technologies may be combined. In addition, input from all key stakeholder groups including academia, industry, clinicians, regulatory agencies and funders should be sought to optimise the development and supply of paediatric medicines in LMICs. There are groups collaborating towards these objectives such as GAP-f, European Paediatric Formulation Initiative, Goodman Pediatric Formulations Centre, among others.

## 7. CONCLUSION

Given the number of children that continue to die from preventable and treatable illnesses, there is an urgent need to reflect on life-saving medicines for which the delivery method could be improved so they can be effectively used in children of all ages and in all settings, as needed.

The breadth of technologies covered in this landscape analysis highlights the untapped potential to innovate and tackle the challenges in improving treatment and prevention of priority conditions affecting children in LMICs. With this awareness of the opportunities, stakeholders including involved in the research, development, and access of appropriate health products for children are encouraged to link these technologies to existing target product profiles (TPPs) and specific therapeutic compounds for which there are missing formulations for children.

The key question to ask in a review or matching exercise is "will an adequate formulation solve in a meaningful way a particular therapeutic issue for affected children?" Case in point, lopinavir/ritonavir which became available in 2003 was a life-saving combination, especially for the smallest children, for whom other therapeutic options widely used by adults for first-line HIV treatment were not available or appropriate. However, the youngest children living with HIV in LMICs, where the majority were born and die, could not adequately benefit from this medicine due to the lack of an optimal formulation for this age-group in LMICs. Through Unitaid's investment into a project led by DNDi, an adequate innovative formulation (4-in-1 granules containing ABC/3TC/LPV/r) was developed to result in expected launch price of less than US\$1 a day.

Stakeholders involved with development of target product profiles and prioritization of paediatric formulations to be developed should be aware of the available delivery systems and formulation methods to be able to focus efforts on the best fit technology for a specific condition or medicine affecting children in LMICs that could have the most positive impact.

Certainly, key elements to ensure access for innovative technologies would need to be thoroughly planned as new products get developed, including measures to overcome potential barriers for market entry and country-adoption, for scalability and production capacity and for potential increased purchasing prices than current standards of care. There will be the need to demonstrate cost efficiency of improved formulations, and their expected public health impact in the disease burden and associated mortality.

Many of the delivery systems analysed in this landscape have the appropriate characteristics geared to access for LMICs related to temperature stability, potential for low cost production, and ability to manufacture at scale. Appropriate interventions and collaborations should be urgently put in place and existing initiatives should be leveraged (i.e., GAP-f) to prevent unacceptable delays in the application of these for the benefit of the most vulnerable populations: children in LMICs.

### ENDNOTES

- Accelerating progress on HIV, tuberculosis, malaria, hepatitis and neglected tropical diseases: A new agenda for 2016-2030. WHO December 2015. <u>https://www.who. int/about/structure/organigram/htm/progress-hiv-tbmalaria-ntd/en/</u>
- 2 CHMP 2006 Reflection paper: Formulations of choice for the paediatric population, EMEA/CHMP/ PEG/194810/2005
- 3 CHMP 2012 Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use, EMA/CHMP/ QWP/805880/2012 Rev. 2
- 4 Zajicek A, Fossler MJ, Barrett JS, Worthington JH, Ternik R, Charkoftaki G, Lum S, Breitkreutz J, Baltezor M, Macheras P, Khan M, Agharkar S, MacLaren DD. A report from the pediatric formulations task force: perspectives on the state of child-friendly oral dosage forms. AAPS Journal. 2013; 15(4):1072-81
- 5 Ivanovska V, Rademaker C, van Dijk L, Mantel-Teeuwisse AK. Pediatric Drug Formulations: A Review of Challenges and Progress. PEDIATRICS 2014; 134(2):361-371
- 6 Liu F, Ranmal S, BatchelorHK, Orlu-Gul M, Ernest TB, Thomas IW, Flanagan T, Tuleu C. Patient-Centred Pharmaceutical Design to Improve Acceptability of Medicines: Similarities and Differences in Paediatric and Geriatric Populations. Drugs 2014; 74(16):1871-1889
- 7 Drumond N, van Riet-Nales DA, Karapinar-Çarkit F, Stegemann S. Patients' appropriateness, acceptability, usability and preferences for pharmaceutical preparations: Results from a literature review on clinical evidence. Int J Pharm. 2017; 521(1-2):294-305
- 8 Van Riet-Nales DA, Kozarewicz P, Aylward B, de Vries R, Egberts TCG, Rademaker CMA, Schobben AFAM. Paediatric Drug Development and Formulation Design—a European Perspective. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017; 18(2):241-249
- 9 Valeur KV, Holst H, Allegaert K. Excipients in Neonatal Medicinal Products: Never Prescribed, Commonly Administered. Pharmaceutical Medicine 2018; 32:251– 258
- 10 Walsh J, Ranmal SR, Ernest TB, Liu F. Patient acceptability, safety and access: A balancing act for selecting ageappropriate oral dosage forms for paediatric and geriatric populations. Int J Pharm 2018; 536:547–562
- 11 Sado E, Sufa A. Availability and affordability of essential medicines for children in the Western part of Ethiopia: implication for access. BMC Pediatrics. 2016; 16:40
- 12 Ewen M, Zweekhorst M, Regeer B, Laing R. Baseline assessment of WHO's target for both availability and affordability of essential medicines to treat noncommunicable diseases. PLoS ONE 2017; 12(2): e0171284
- 13 Gerrard SE, Walsh J, Bowers N, Salunke S, Hershenson S. Innovations in Pediatric Drug Formulations and Administration Technologies for Low Resource Settings. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:518
- 14 Kern SE. Challenges in conducting clinical trials in children: approaches for improving performance. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2009; 2(6): 609–617

- 15 Smit-Marshall P. Pediatric Trials: A Worldview. Applied Clinical Trials. 2010; 19(1)
- 16 Pica N, Bourgeois F. Discontinuation and Nonpublication of Randomized Clinical Trials Conducted in Children. PEDIATRICS 2016; 138(3): e2 0160223
- 17 Greenberg RG, Cornelia A, BradleyJ, Farley J, Jafrid HS, Lin L, Nambiarc S, Noele GJ, Wheeler C, Tiernanc R, Smitha PB, Roberts J, Benjamin Jr. DK. Perceived barriers to pediatrician and family practitioner participation in pediatric clinical trials: Findings from the Clinical Trials Transformation Initiative. Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications 2018; 9:7-12
- 18 EC. Regulation (EC) No 1901/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006 on medicinal products for paediatric use and amending Regulation (EEC) No 1768/92, Directive 2001/20/EC, Directive 2001/83/EC and Regulation (EC) No 726/2004. Official Journal of the European Communities L 378/1, 2006. Available at: <u>http://data.europa.eu/eli/ reg/2006/1901/oj</u>
- 19 EC. Regulation (EC) No 1902/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006 amending Regulation 1901/2006 on medicinal products for paediatric use. Official Journal of the European Communities L 378/20, 2006. Available at: <u>http://ec.europa.eu/health/files/eudralex/vol-1/</u> reg 2006 1902/reg 2006 1902 en.pdf
- 20 FDA. Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act (FDASIA), 126 Stat. 993, Pub. L. 2012; 112-144. Available at: http://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/PLAW-112publ144/pdf/PLAW-112publ144.pdf.
- 21 Wimmer S, Rascher W, McCarthy S, Neubert A. The EU paediatric regulation: still a large discrepancy between therapeutic needs and approved paediatric investigation plans. Paediatr Drugs 2014; 16:397-406
- 22 Ruggieri L, Giannuzzi V, Baiardi P, Bonifazi F, Davies EH, Giaquinto C, Bonifazi D, Felisi M, Chiron C, Pressler R, Rabe H, Whitaker MJ, Neubert A, Jacqz-Aigrain E, Eichler I, Turner MA, Ceci A. Successful private-public funding of paediatric medicines research: lessons from the EU programme to fund research into off-patent medicines. Eur J Pediatr 2015; 174:481–491
- 23 Unitaid Long Acting Compendium 2018. Available at: https://unitaid.org/assets/Unitaid-LA-compendium-November-2018-for-UTD-web-converted.pdf
- 24 30 January 2020; Unitaid invests in long-acting medicines to simplify treatment and prevention for HIV, TB, malaria and HCV, <u>https://unitaid.org/news-blog/unitaid-investsin-long-acting-medicines-to-simplify-treatment-andprevention-for-hiv-tb-malaria-and-hcv/#en</u>
- 25 25 march 2020, Long-acting medicines meet vector control in new Unitaid-backed malaria initiative, https://unitaid.org/news-blog/long-acting-medicinesmeet-vector-control-in-new-unitaid-backed-malariainitiative/#en.
- 26 Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation Family Planning Strategic Review. <u>https://www.gatesfoundation.org/</u> What-We-Do/Global-Development/Family-Planning\_

- 27 <u>https://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/topics/</u> linkages/mpts/en/
- 28 Unitaid Long Acting Compendium 2018. Available at: https://unitaid.org/assets/Unitaid-LA-compendium-November-2018-for-UTD-web-converted.pdf
- 29 World Health Organisation (WHO), Report of the Informal Expert Meeting on Dosage Forms of Medicines for Children, 2008. Available at: <u>http://www.who. int/selection\_medicines/committees/expert/17/ application/paediatric/Dosage\_form\_reportDEC2008.</u> pdf
- 30 <u>https://www.amcor.com/product-listing/dessiflex-blister-system</u>
- 31 Abdulla S, Sagara I. Dispersible formulation of artemether/lumefantrine: specifically developed for infants and young children. Malaria Journal 2009; 8 (Suppl. 1):S7
- 32 Abdulla S, Amuri B, Kabanywanyi AM, Ubben D, Reynolds C, Pascoe S, Fitoussi S, Yeh C-M, Nuortti M, Séchaud R, Kaiser G, Lefèvre G. Early clinical development of artemether-lumefantrine dispersible tablet: palatability of three flavours and bioavailability in healthy subjects. Malaria Journal 2010; 9:253
- 33 Toure OA, Rulisa S, Anvikar AR, Rao BS, Mishra P, Jalali RK, Arora S, Roy A, Saha N, Iyer SS, Sharma P, Valecha N. Efficacy and safety of fixed dose combination of arterolane maleate and piperaquine phosphate dispersible tablets in paediatric patients with acute uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria: a phase II, multicentric, open-label study. Malaria Journal 2015; 14:469
- 34 Toure OA, Mwapasa V, Sagara I, Gaye O, Thompson R, Maheshwar AV, Mishra P, Behra N, Tshefu AK, Das RR, Anvikar AR, Sharma P, Roy A, Sharma SK, Nasa A, Jalali RK, Valecha N. Assessment of Efficacy and Safety of Arterolane Maleate–Piperaquine Phosphate Dispersible Tablets in Comparison With Artemether-Lumefantrine Dispersible Tablets in Pediatric Patients With Acute Uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* Malaria: A Phase 3, Randomized, Multicenter Trial in India and Africa. Clinical Infectious Diseases 2017; 65(10):1711-20
- 35 Bowles BJ, Dziemidowicz K, Lopez FL, Orlu M, Tuleu C, EdwardsAJ, Ernest TB. Co-Processed Excipients for Dispersible Tablets–Part 1: Manufacturability. AAPS PharmSciTech 2018; 19 (6):2598
- 36 Orubu S, Okwelogub C, Opanuga O, Tuleu C. A survey of caregivers of Nigerian children less than 6 years of age to determine the experience and perception of acceptability of oral solid dosage forms. Int J Pharm 2018; 536:582-589
- 37 Walsh J, Ranmal SR, Ernest TB, Liu F. Patient acceptability, safety and access: A balancing act for selecting age-appropriate oral dosage forms for paediatric and geriatric populations. Int J Pharm 2018; 536:547–562
- 38 Gerrard SE, Walsh J, Bowers N, Salunke S, Hershenson S. Innovations in Pediatric Drug Formulations and Administration Technologies for Low Resource Settings. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:518
- 39 Dziemidowicz K, Lopez FL, Bowles BJ, Edwards AJ,

Ernest TB, Orlu M, Tuleu C. Co-Processed Excipients for Dispersible Tablets—Part 2: Patient Acceptability. AAPS PharmSciTech 2018; 19 (6):2646

- 40 Nasrin D, Larson CP, Sultana S, Khan TU. Acceptability of and adherence to dispersible zinc tablet in the treatment of acute childhood diarrhoea. J Health Popul Nutr. 2005; 23(3):215-21
- 41 Ogutu BR, Onyango KO, Koskei N, Omondi EK, Ongecha JM, Otieno GA, Obonyo C, Otieno C, Eyase F, Johnson JD, Omollo R, Perkins DJ, Akhwale W, Juma E. Efficacy and safety of artemether-lumefantrine and dihydroartemisinin-piperaquine in the treatment of uncomplicated *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria in Kenyan children aged less than five years: results of an open-label, randomized, single-centre study. Malaria Journal 2014; 13:33
- 42 Purchase SE, Garcia-Prats AJ, De Koker P, Draper HR, Osman M, Seddon JA, Schaaf HS, Hesseling AC. Acceptability of a Novel Levofloxacin Dispersible Tablet Formulation in Young Children Exposed to Multidrugresistant Tuberculosis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2019; 38(6):608-610
- 43 Orubu S, Okwelogub C, Opanuga O, Tuleu C. A survey of caregivers of Nigerian children less than 6 years of age to determine the experience and perception of acceptability of oral solid dosage forms. Int J Pharm 2018; 536:582-589
- 44 Bowles BJ, Dziemidowicz K, Lopez FL, Orlu M, Tuleu C, EdwardsAJ, Ernest TB. Co-Processed Excipients for Dispersible Tablets-Part 1: Manufacturability. AAPS PharmSciTech 2018; 19 (6):2598
- 45 Dziemidowicz K, Lopez FL, Bowles BJ, Edwards AJ, Ernest TB, Orlu M, Tuleu C. Co-Processed Excipients for Dispersible Tablets—Part 2: Patient Acceptability. AAPS PharmSciTech 2018; 19 (6):2646
- 46 Reproduced with permission from Adare Pharmaceuticals.
- 47 Rancé F, Deslandes B, Decosta P. Acceptability and tolerance of prednisolone metasulfobenzoate in orally dispersing tablets in 2 to 12-years-old children. Archives de pédiatrie 2004; 11:1127 1130 (*Article in French*)
- 48 Alyami H, Dahmash E, Alyami F, Dahmash D, Huynh C, Terry D, Mohammed AR. Dosage form preference consultation study in children and young adults: paving the way for patient-centred and patient-informed dosage form development. Eur J Hosp Pharm 2017; 24:332–337
- 49 Alyami H, Koner J, Huynh C, Terry D, Mohammed AR. Current opinions and recommendations of paediatric healthcare professionals - The importance of tablets: Emerging orally disintegrating versus traditional tablets. PLoS ONE 2018; 13(2):e0193292.
- 50 Stoltenberg I, Breitkreutz J. Orally disintegrating minitablets (ODMTs) – A novel solid oral dosage form for paediatric use. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2011; 78:462–469
- 51 Bajcetic M, de Wildt SN, Dalinghaus M, Breitkreutz J, Klingmann I, Lagler FB, Keatley-Clarke A, Breur JMPJ, Male C, Jovanovic I, Szatmárik A, Ablonczy L, Burckhardt BB, Cawello W, Kleine K, Obarcanin E, Spatenkova L, Swoboda V, van der Meulen M, Wagner P, Walsh J,

Läer S. Orodispersible minitablets of enalapril for use in children with heart failure (LENA): Rationale and protocol for a multicentre pharmacokinetic bridging study and follow-up safety study. Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications 2019; 15:100393

- 52 Hayakawa Y, Uchida S, Namiki N. Evaluation of the ease of taking mini-tablets compared with other tablet formulations in healthy volunteers. Eur J Pharm Sci 2016; 84:157–161
- 53 Bandari S, Mittapalli RK, Gannu R, Rao YM. Orodispersible tablets: An overview. Asian Journal of Pharmaceutics -January 2008
- 54 Nagy K, Nyúl K, Wagner I, Molnár K, Marosi G. Electrospun water soluble polymer mat for ultrafast release of Donepezil HCl. eXPRESS Polymer Letters 2010; 4(12):763 772
- 55 Parkash V, Maan S, Deepika, SK Yadav, Hemlata, Jogpal V. Fast disintegrating tablets: Opportunity in drug delivery system. J Adv Pharm Technol Res 2011; 2(4): 223
- 56 Al-khattawi A, Mohammed AR. Compressed orally disintegrating tablets: excipients evolution and formulation strategies. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2013; 10(5):651-63
- 57 Slavkova M, Breitkreutz J. Orodispersible drug formulations for children and elderly. Eur J Pharm Sci 2015; 75:2–9
- 58 Ciluro F, Musazzi UM, Franzé S, Selmin F, Minghetti P. Orodispersible dosage forms: biopharmaceutical improvements and regulatory requirements. Drug Discovery Today 2018; 23(2):251
- 59 DNDi 4-IN-1 (ABC/3TC/LPV/R). <u>https://www.dndi.org/</u> <u>diseases-projects/portfolio/4-in-1-lpv-r-abc-3tc/</u>
- 60 Photo credit: Xavier Vahed/DNDi
- 61 Sympfiny<sup>®</sup> Multi-Particulate Delivery System. https://hsdesign.com/sympfiny/
- 62 Reproduced with permission from HS Design.
- 63 Abdul S, Chandewar AV, Jaiswal SB. A flexible technology for modified-release drugs: Multiple-unit pellet system (MUPS). J Control Rel 2010; 147:2–16
- 64 de Alencar RG, de Oliveira AC, Lima EM, da Cunha-Filho MSS, Taveira SF, Marreto RN. Compacted Multiparticulate Systems for Colon-Specific Delivery of Ketoprofen. AAPS PharmSciTech 2017; 18(6):2260
- 65 Desai N, Purohit R. Development of Novel High Density Gastroretentive Multiparticulate Pulsatile Tablet of Clopidogrel Bisulfate Using Quality by Design Approach. AAPS PharmSciTech, 2017; 18(8): 3208
- 66 Al-Hashimi N, Begg N, Alany RG, Hassanin H, Elshaer A. Oral Modified Release Multiple-Unit Particulate Systems: Compressed Pellets, Microparticles and Nanoparticles. Pharmaceutics 2018; 10:176
- 67 Petrovick GF, Kleinebudde P, Breitkreutz J. Orodispersible tablets containing taste-masked solid lipid pellets with metformin hydrochloride: Influence of process parameters on tablet properties. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2018; 122:137–145
- 68 Tung N-T, Tran C-S, Nguyen T-L, Hoang T, Trinh T-D, Nguyen T-N. Formulation and biopharmaceutical evaluation of bitter taste masking microparticles containing azithromycin loaded in dispersible tablets. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2018; 126:187–200
- 69 CHMP 2012 Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use, EMA/CHMP/

QWP/805880/2012 Rev. 2

- 70 Cloyd JC, Kriel RL, Jones-Saete CM, Ong BY, Jancik JT, Remmel RP. Comparison of sprinkle versus formulations of valproate for bioavailability, tolerance, and preference. J Pediatr 1992;120:634-8
- 71 Motte J, Pedespan JM, Sevestre M, Chiron C. Acceptability and tolerance of sodium valproate, a new sustainedaction granule formulation, in monotherapy for epileptic children from 3 years old. Archives de pédiatrie 2005; 12:1533–1539 (Article in French)
- 72 Kozarewicz P. Regulatory perspectives on acceptability testing of dosage forms in children. Int J Pharm 2014; 469:245–248
- 73 Lopez FL, Bowles A, Orlu Gul M, Clapham D, Ernest TB, Tuleu C. Effect of formulation variables on oral grittiness and preferences of multiparticulate formulations in adult volunteers. Eur J Pharm Sci 2016; 92:156–162
- 74 Lopez FL, Ernest TB, Orlu M, Tuleu C. The effect of administration media on palatability and ease of swallowing of multiparticulate formulations. Int J Pharm 2018: 551:67–75
- 75 Lopez FL, Mistry P, Batchelor HK, Bennett J, Coupe A, Ernest TB, Orlu M, Tuleu C. Acceptability of placebo multiparticulate formulations in children and adults. Scientific Reports 2018; 8:9210
- 76 Lopinavir/r/ Lamivudine/ Abacavir as an Easy to Use Paediatric Formulation (LOLIPOP). https://clinicaltrials. gov/ct2/show/NCT03836833
- 77 Srivastava S, Mishra G. Fluid Bed Technology: Overview and Parameters for Process Selection. Int J Pharm Sci Drug Res 2010; 2(4):236-246
- 78 Gandhi B, Baheti J. Multiparticulates Drug Delivery Systems: A Review. Int J Chem Sci 2013; 2 (3):1620
- 79 Muley S, Nandgude T, Poddar S. Extrusionspheronization a promising pelletization technique: Indepth review. Asian J Pharm Sci 2016; 11:684–699
- 80 Issa MG, de Souza NV, Duque MD, Ferraz HG. Physical characterization of multiparticulate systems. Braz. J. Pharm. Sci. 2017; 53(4):e00216
- 81 Bertoni S, Dolci LS, Albertini B, Passerini N. Spray congealing: a versatile technology for advanced drugdelivery systems. Ther Deliv 2018; 9(11):833-845
- 82 Bertoni S, Albertini B, Passerini N. Spray Congealing: An Emerging Technology toPrepare Solid Dispersions with Enhanced Oral Bioavailability of Poorly Water Soluble Drugs. Molecules 2019; 24: 3471
- 83 Mohylyuk V, Patel K, Scott N, Richardson C, Murnane D, Liu F. Wurster Fluidised Bed Coating of Microparticles: Towards Scalable Production of Oral Sustained-Release Liquid Medicines for Patients with Swallowing Difficulties. AAPS PharmSciTech 2020; 21:3
- 84 Reproduced with permission from Jennifer Walsh.
- 85 Reproduced with permission from Viviane Klingmann.
- 86 Mini-Tablet Dispenser to Become Commercially Available in 2020, 2019. <u>https://www.healthcarepackaging.</u> com/machinery-materials/adherence-delivery/ news/13701970/minitablet-dispenser-to-becomecommercially-available-in-2020
- 87 Balda's Smart Mini Tablet Dispenser. <u>https://pharma.</u> stevanatogroup.com/plastic-solutions/products/ pharmaceutical/smart-mini-tablet-dispenser/
- 88 Reproduced with permission from Balda (Stevanato

Group).

- 89 Tissen C, Woertz K, Breitkreutz J, Kleinebudde P. Development of mini-tablets with 1 mm and 2 mm diameter. Int J Pharm 2011; 416:164–170
- 90 Aleksovski A, Dreu R, Gašperlin M, Planinšek O. Minitablets: a contemporary system for oral drug delivery in targeted patient groups. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2015; 12(1):65-84
- 91 Ilhann E, Ugurlu T, Kerimoglu O. Mini Tablets: A Short Review-Revision. Peertechz J Med Chem Res 2017; 3(1): 012-022
- 92 Mitra B, Chang J, Wu S-J, Wolf CN, Ternik RL, Guntera TZ, Victora MC. Feasibility of mini-tablets as a flexible drug delivery tool. Int J Pharm 2017; 525: 149–159
- 93 Mitra B, Thoola P, Meruvab S, Aycinenaa A, Lia J, Patela J, Patela K, Agarwal A, Karkia S, Bowen W. Decoding the small size challenges of mini-tablets for enhanced dose flexibility and micro-dosing. Int J Pharm 2020; 574:118905
- 94 van Riet-Nales DA, de Neef BJ, Schobben AFAM, Ferreira JA, Egberts TCG, Rademaker CMA. Acceptability of different oral formulations in infants and preschool children. Arch Dis Child 2013; 98:725–731
- 95 Thomson SA, Tuleu C, Wong ICK, Keady S, Pitt KG, Sutcliffe AG. Minitablets: New Modality to Deliver Medicines to Preschool-Aged Children. Pediatrics 2009; 123:e235–e238
- 96 Klingmann V, Seitz A, Meissner T, Breitkreutz J, Moeltner A, Bosse HM. Acceptability of Uncoated Mini-Tablets in Neonates—A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Pediatr 2015; 167:893-6
- 97 Klingmann V, Spomer N, Lerch C, Stoltenberg I, Froemke C, Bosse HM, Breitkreutz J, Meissner T. Favorable Acceptance of Mini-Tablets Compared with Syrup: A Randomized Controlled Trial in Infants and Preschool Children. J Pediatr 2013; 163:1728-32
- 98 Kluk A, Sznitowska M, Brandt A, Sznurkowska K, Plata-Nazar K, Mysliwiec M, Kaminska B, Kotlowska H. Can preschool-aged children swallow several minitablets at a time? Results from a clinical pilot study. Int J Pharm 2015; 485:1–6
- 99 Klingmann V, Linderskamp H, Meissner T, Mayatepek E, Moeltner A, Breitkreutz J, Bosse HM. Acceptability of Multiple Uncoated Minitablets in Infants and Toddlers: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Pediatr 2018; 201:202-7
- 100 Musiime V, Fillekes Q, Kekitiinwa A, Kendall L, Keishanyu R, Namuddu R, Young N, Opilo W, Lallemant M, Walker AS, Burger D, Gibb DM. The Pharmacokinetics and Acceptability of Lopinavir/ Ritonavir Minitab Sprinkles, Tablets, and Syrups in African HIV-Infected Children. Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014; 66:148–154
- 101 Hayakawa Y, Uchida S, Namiki N. Evaluation of the ease of taking mini-tablets compared with other tablet formulations in healthy volunteers. Eur J Pharm Sci 2016; 84:157–161
- 102 Klingmann V. Acceptability, swallowability and palatability of oblong-tablets in young children - a randomised controlled trial. EuPFI Conference, Malmo, 2019.
- 103 Reproduced with permission from Viviane Klingmann.
- 104 Visser JC, Woerdenbag HJ, Hanff LM, Frijlink HW. Personalized Medicine in Pediatrics: The Clinical Potential of Orodispersible Films. AAPS PharmSciTech. 2017: 18(2):267-272

- 105 Öblom H, Sjöholm E, Rautamo M, Sandler N. Towards Printed Pediatric Medicines in Hospital Pharmacies: Comparison of 2D and 3D-Printed OrodispersibleWarfarin Films with Conventional Oral Powders in Unit Dose Sachets. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11: 334
- 106 Niese S, Breitkreutz J, Quodbach J. Development of a dosing device for individualized dosing of orodispersible warfarin films. Int J Pharm 2019;a 561:314–323
- 107 Visser JC, Wibier L, Kiefer O, Orlu M, Breitkreutz J, Woerdenbag HJ, Taxis K. A Pediatrics Utilization Study in The Netherlands to Identify Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients Suitable for Inkjet Printing on Orodispersible Films. Pharmaceutics 2020: 12: 164
- 108 Scarpa M, Paudel A, Kloprogge F, Hsiao WK, Bresciani M, Gaisford S, Orlu M. Key acceptability attributes of orodispersible films. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2018; 125:131–140
- 109 Krampe R, Visser JC, Frijlink HW, Breitkreutz J, Woerdenbag HJ, Preis M. Oromucosal film preparations: points to consider for patient centricity and manufacturing processes. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2016; 13 (4):493-506
- 110 Nishigaki M, Kawahara K, Nawa M, Futamura M, Nishimura M, Matsuura K, Kitaichi K, Kawaguchi Y, Tsukioka T, Yoshida K, Itoh Y. Development of fast dissolving oral film containing dexamethasone as an antiemetic medication: Clinical usefulness. Int J Pharm 2012; 424:12–17
- 111 Orlu M, Ranmal SR, Sheng Y, Tuleu C, Seddon P. Acceptability of orodispersible films for delivery of medicines to infants and preschool children. Drug Delivery 2017; 24 (1):1243–1248
- 112 Klingmann V, Pohly CE, Meissner T, Mayatepek E, Möltner A, Flunkert K, Breitkreutz J, Bosse HM. Acceptability of an orodispersible film compared to syrup in neonates and infants: A randomized controlled trial. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2020; 151:239-245
- 113 Hoffmann EM, Breitenbach A, Breitkreutz J. Advances in orodispersible films for drug delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2011; 8(3):299-316
- 114 Janssen EM, Schliephacke R, Breitenbach A, Breitkreutz J. Drug-printing by flexographic printing technology—A new manufacturing process for orodispersible films. Int J Pharm 2013; 441:818–825
- 115 Borges AF, Silva C, Coelho JFJ, Simões S. Oral films: Current status and future perspectives I – Galenical development and quality attributes. J Control Rel 2015; 206:1-19
- 116 Daly R, Harrington TS, Martin GD, Hutchings IM. Inkjet printing for pharmaceutics – A review of research and manufacturing. Int J Pharm 2015; 494:554–567
- 117 Preis M, Breitkreutz J, Sandler N. Perspective: Concepts of printing technologies for oral film formulations. Int J Pharm 2015; 494:578–584
- 118 Slavkova M, Breitkreutz J. Orodispersible drug formulations for children and elderly. Eur J Pharm Sci 2015; 75:2–9
- 119 Krampe R, Visser JC, Frijlink HW, Breitkreutz J, Woerdenbag HJ, Preis M. Oromucosal film preparations: points to consider for patient centricity and manufacturing processes. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2016; 13 (4):493-506
- 120 Lindert S, Breitkreutz J. Oromucosal multilayer films for tailor-made, controlled drug delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2017; 14 (11):1265–1279

- 121 Scarpa M, Paudel A, Kloprogge F, Hsiao WK, Bresciani M, Gaisford S, Orlu M. Key acceptability attributes of orodispersible films. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2018; 125:131–140
- 122 Thabet Y, Breitkreutz J. Orodispersible films: Product transfer from lab-scale to continuous manufacturing. In J Pharm 2018; 535:285–292
- 123 Niese S, Quodbach J. Formulation development of a continuously manufactured orodispersible film containing warfarin sodium for individualized dosing. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019b; 136:93–101
- 124 Öblom H, Sjöholm E, Rautamo M, Sandler N. Towards Printed Pediatric Medicines in Hospital Pharmacies: Comparison of 2D and 3D-Printed OrodispersibleWarfarin Films with Conventional Oral Powders in Unit Dose Sachets. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11: 334
- 125 Tian Y, Orlu M, Woerdenbag HJ, Scarpa M, Kiefer O, Kottke D, Sjöholm E, Öblom H, Sandler N, Hinrichs WLJ., Frijlink HW, Breitkreutz J, Visser JC. Oromucosal films: from patient centricity to production by printing techniques. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2019; 16 (9):981-993
- 126 Musazzi UM, Khalid GM, Selmin F, Minghetti P, Cilurzo F. Trends in the production methods of orodispersible films. Int J Pharm 2020; 576:118963
- 127 Lindert S, Breitkreutz J. Oromucosal multilayer films for tailor-made, controlled drug delivery. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2017; 14 (11):1265–1279
- 128 Traverso G, Schoellhammer CM, Schroeder A, Maab R, Lauwers GY, Polatb BE, Anderson DG, Blankschtein D, Langer R. Microneedles for Drug Delivery via the Gastrointestinal Tract. J Pharm Sci 2015; 104(2):362–367
- 129 Abramson A, Caffarel-Salvador E, Soares V, Minahan D, Tian RY, Lu X, Dellal D, Gao Y, Kim S, Wainer J, Collins J, Tamang S, Hayward A, Yoshitake T, Lee HC, Fujimoto J, Fels J, Frederiksen MR, Rahbek U, Roxhed N, Langer R, Traverso G. A luminal unfolding microneedle injector for oral delivery of macromolecules A luminal unfolding microneedle injector for oral delivery of macromolecules. Nat Med. 2019; 25(10):1512-151
- 130 RaniPill<sup>™</sup> capsule <u>https://www.ranitherapeutics.com/</u>
- 131 CHMP 2012 Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use, EMA/CHMP/ QWP/805880/2012 Rev. 2
- 132 American Academy of Pediatrics Periodic Survey #44 Patient Compliance with Prescription Regimens, 2000. Available at: https://www.aap.org/en-us/professionalresources/Research/Pages/PS44 Executive Summary\_ PatientCompliancewithPrescriptionRegimens.aspx
- 133 Venables R, Batchelor H, Hodson J, Stirling H, Marriott J. Determination of formulation factors that affect oral medicines acceptability in a domiciliary paediatric population. Int J Pharm 2015; 480:55–62
- 134 Mennella JA, Spector AC, Reed DR, Coldwell SE. The Bad Taste of Medicines: Overview of Basic Research on Bitter Taste. Clin Ther 2013; 35(8):1225–1246
- 135 Shah PP, Mashru RC. Development and Evaluation of Artemether Taste Masked Rapid Disintegrating Tablets with Improved Dissolution Using Solid Dispersion Technique. AAPS PharmSciTech 2008; 9(2): 494-500
- 136 Ayenew Z, Puri V, Kumar L, Bansal AK. Trends in Pharmaceutical Taste Masking Technologies: A Patent Review. Recent Patents on Drug Delivery & Formulation 2009; 3:26-39
- 137 Kaushik D, Dureja H. Recent Patents and Patented Technology Platforms for Pharmaceutical Taste Masking. Recent Patents on Drug Delivery & Formulation 2014; 8:37-45

- 138 Walsh J, Cram A, Woertz K, Breitkreutz J, Winzenburg G, Turner R, Tuleu C. Playing hide and seek with poorly tasting paediatric medicines: Do not forget the excipients. Adv Drug Del Rev 2014; 73:14–33
- 139 Al-kasmi B, Alsirawan MHD B, Bashimam M, El-zein H. Mechanical microencapsulation: The best technique in taste masking for the manufacturing scale - Effect of polymer encapsulation on drug targeting. J Control Rel 2017; 260:134–141
- 140 Behrens M, Blank, K, Meyerhof W. Blends of Non-caloric Sweeteners Saccharin and Cyclamate Show Reduced Off-Taste due to TAS2R Bitter Receptor Inhibition. Cell Chemical Biology 2017; 24:1199–1204
- 141 Münster M, Schoch C, Schmidt C, Breitkreutz J. Multiparticulate system combining taste masking and immediate release properties for the aversive compound praziquantel. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2017; 109:446–454
- 142 Tan DCT, Ong JJ, Gokhale R, Heng PWS. Hot melt extrusion of ion-exchange resin for taste masking. Int J Pharm 2018; 547:385–394
- 143 Zheng X, Wu F, Hong Y, Shen L, Lin X, Feng Y. Developments in Taste-Masking Techniques for Traditional Chinese Medicines. Pharmaceutics 2018; 10:157
- 144 Kaushik D, Dureja H. Recent Patents and Patented Technology Platforms for Pharmaceutical Taste Masking. Recent Patents on Drug Delivery & Formulation 2014; 8:37-45
- 145 Juluri A, Popescu C, Zhou L, Murthy RN, Gowda VK, Kumar P C, Pimparade MB, Repka MA, Murthy SN. Taste Masking of Griseofulvin and Caffeine Anhydrous Using Kleptose Linecaps DE17 by Hot Melt Extrusion. AAPS PharmSciTech 2016; 17(1):99
- 146 Mennella JA, Reed DR, Roberts KM, Mathew PS, Mansfield CJ. Age-Related Differences in Bitter Taste and Efficacy of Bitter Blockers. PLoS ONE 2014; 9(7):e103107
- 147 Walsh J, Cram A, Woertz K, Breitkreutz J, Winzenburg G, Turner R, Tuleu C. Playing hide and seek with poorly tasting paediatric medicines: Do not forget the excipients. Adv Drug Del Rev 2014; 73:14–33
- 148 Zheng X, Wu F, Hong Y, Shen L, Lin X, Feng Y. Developments in Taste-Masking Techniques for Traditional Chinese Medicines. Pharmaceutics 2018; 10:157
- 149 Balducci AG, Colombo G, Corace G, Cavallari C, Rodriguez L, ButtiniF, Colombo P, Rossi A. Layered lipid microcapsules for mesalazine delayed-release in children. Int J Pharm 2011; 421:293–300
- 150 Nokhodchi A, Raja S, Patel P, Asare-Addo K. The Role of Oral Controlled Release Matrix Tablets in Drug Delivery Systems. BioImpacts 2012; 2(4):175-187
- 151 Dzajkowska M, Kotlowska H, Madanecka A, Szczepanska M, Dagmara D, Sosnowicz A, Sznitowska M. Prolongedrelease minitablets with carbamazepine – preliminary observations in vitro. J Pharm Pharmacol 2017; 69:471– 479
- 152 Nart, V, O'Reilly Beringhs A, França MT, de Espíndola B, Pezzini BR, Stulzer HK. Carnauba wax as a promising excipient in melt granulation targeting the preparation of mini-tablets for sustained release of highly soluble drugs. Materials Science and Engineering C 2017; 70:250–257
- 153 Bertoni S, Dolci LS, Albertini B, Passerini N. Spray congealing: a versatile technology for advanced drugdelivery systems. Ther Deliv 2018; 9(11):833-845
- 154 Awad A, Fina F, Trenfield SJ, Patel P, Goyanes A, Gaisford S, Basit AW. 3D Printed Pellets (Miniprintlets): A Novel, Multi-Drug, Controlled Release Platform Technology. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:148

- 155 Musazzi UM, Dolci LS, Albertini B, Passerini N, Cilurzo F. A new melatonin oral delivery platform based on orodispersible films containing solid lipid microparticles. Int J Pharm 2019; 559:280–288
- 156 Partheniadis I, Gkogkou P, Kantiranis N, Nikolakakis I. Modulation of the Release of a Non-Interacting Low Solubility Drug from Chitosan Pellets Using Different Pellet Size, Composition and Numerical Optimization. Pharmaceutics 2019: 11:175
- 157 Siepmann J, Faham A, Clas S-D, Boyd BJ, Jannin V, Bernkop-Schnürch A, Zhao H, Lecommandoux S, Evans JC, Allenh, C, Merkel OM, Costabile G, Alexander MR, Wildman RD, Roberts CJ, Leroux J-C. Lipids and polymers in pharmaceutical technology: Lifelong companions. Int J Pharm 2019; 558:128–142
- 158 Sosnik A, Seremeta KP. Polymeric Hydrogels as Technology Platform for Drug Delivery Applications. Gels 2017; 3:25
- 159 Desai N, Purohit R. Development of Novel High Density Gastroretentive Multiparticulate Pulsatile Tablet of Clopidogrel Bisulfate Using Quality by Design Approach. AAPS PharmSciTech, 2017; 18(8): 3208
- 160 Lamichhane S, Park J-B, Sohn DH, Lee S. Customized Novel Design of 3D Printed Pregabalin Tablets for Intra-Gastric Floating and Controlled Release Using Fused Deposition Modeling. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:564
- 161 SreeHarsha N, Ramnarayanan C, Al-Dhubiab BE, Nair AB, Hiremath JG, Venugopala KN, Satish RT, Attimarad M, Shariff A. Mucoadhesive Particles: A Novel, Prolonged-Release Nanocarrier of Sitagliptin for the Treatment of Diabetics. Hindawi BioMed Research International 2019; Article ID 3950942
- 162 Nguyen T-T, Hwang, K-M, Kim S-H, Park E-S. Development of novel bilayer gastroretentive tablets based on hydrophobic polymers. Int J Pharm 2020; 574:118865
- 163 Lyndra capsule (https://lyndra.com/)
- 164 Bellinger AM Jafari M, Grant TM, Zhang S, Slater HC, Wenger EA, Mo S, Lee Y-A L, Mazdiyasni H, Kogan L, Barman R, Cleveland C, Booth L, Bensel T, Minahan D, Hurowitz HM, Tai T, Daily J, Nikolic B, Wood L, Eckhoff PA, Langer R, Traverso G. Oral, ultra-long-lasting drug delivery: Application toward malaria elimination goals. Sci Transl Med 2016; 8(365):365ra157
- 165 Lyndra, <u>https://unitaid.org/assets/Lyndra-NC-September-2018.pdf</u>
- 166 Gomes M, Ribeiro I, Warsame M, Karunajeewa H, Petzold M. Rectal artemisinins for malaria: a review of efficacy and safety from individual patient data in clinical studies. BMC Infectious Diseases 2008; 8:39
- 167 Gomes MF, Faiz MA, Gyapong JO, Warsame M, Agbenyega T, Babiker A, Baiden F, Yunus EB, Binka F, Clerk C, Folb P, Hassan R, Hossain MA, Kimbute O, Kitua A, Krishna S, Makasi C, Mensah N, Mrango Z, Olliaro P, Peto R, Peto TJ, Rahman MR, Ribeiro I, Samad R, White NJ. Pre-referral rectal artesunate to prevent death and disability in severe malaria: a placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2009; 373:557–66
- 168 Nunes R, Sarmento B, das Neves J. Formulation and delivery of anti-HIV rectal microbicides: Advances and challenges. J Control Rel 2014; 194:278–294
- 169 Kauss T, Langlois M-H, Guyonnet-Dupérat A, Phoeung T, Xie XY, Cartwright A, White N, Gomes M, Gaudin K. Development of Rectodispersible Tablets and Granulate Capsules for the Treatment of Serious Neonatal Sepsis in Developing Countries. J Pharm Sci 2019; 108:2805-2813
- 170 Persaud S, Eid S, Swiderski N, Serris I, Cho H. Preparations of Rectal Suppositories Containing

Artesunate. Pharmaceutics 2020; 12:222

- 171 Jannin V, Lemagnen G, Gueroult P, Larrouture D, Tuleu C. Rectal route in the 21st Century to treat children. Adv Drug Del Rev 2014; 73:34–49
- 172 Nunes R, Sarmento B, das Neves J. Formulation and delivery of anti-HIV rectal microbicides: Advances and challenges. J Control Rel 2014; 194:278–294
- 173 Ham AS, Buckheit Jr RW. Designing and developing suppository formulations for anti-HIV drug delivery. Ther Deliv 2017; 8(9):805–817
- 174 Purohit TJ, Hanning SM, Wu Z. Advances in rectal drug delivery systems. Pharm Dev Technol 2018; 23 (10):942-952
- 175 Hua S. Physiological and Pharmaceutical Considerations for Rectal Drug Formulations. Frontiers in Pharmacology 2019; 10:1196
- 176 Persaud S, Eid S, Swiderski N, Serris I, Cho H. Preparations of Rectal Suppositories Containing Artesunate. Pharmaceutics 2020; 12:222
- 177 Seth N, Llewellyn NE, Howard RF. Parental opinions regarding the route of administration of analgesic medication in children. Paediatr Anaesth 2000; 10(5):537-44
- 178 Jannin V, Lemagnen G, Gueroult P, Larrouture D, Tuleu C. Rectal route in the 21st Century to treat children. Adv Drug Del Rev 2014; 73:34–49
- 179 Ham AS, Buckheit Jr RW. Designing and developing suppository formulations for anti-HIV drug delivery. Ther Deliv 2017; 8(9):805–817
- 180 Hua S. Physiological and Pharmaceutical Considerations for Rectal Drug Formulations. Frontiers in Pharmacology 2019; 10:1196
- 181 Hua S. Physiological and Pharmaceutical Considerations for Rectal Drug Formulations. Frontiers in Pharmacology 2019; 10:1196
- 182 Purohit TJ, Hanning SM, Wu Z. Advances in rectal drug delivery systems. Pharm Dev Technol 2018; 23 (10):942-952
- 183 Peet MM, Agrahari V, Anderson SM, Hanif H, Singh ON, Thurman AR, Doncel GF, Clark MR. Topical Inserts: A Versatile Delivery Form for HIV Prevention. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11: 374
- 184 Kauss T, Langlois M-H, Guyonnet-Dupérat A, Phoeung T, Xie XY, Cartwright A, White N, Gomes M, Gaudin K. Development of Rectodispersible Tablets and Granulate Capsules for the Treatment of Serious Neonatal Sepsis in Developing Countries. J Pharm Sci 2019; 108:2805-2813
- 185 CHMP 2012 Guideline on pharmaceutical development of medicines for paediatric use, EMA/CHMP/ QWP/805880/2012 Rev. 2
- 186 ENHANZE® Drug Delivery Technology. <u>https://www.halozyme.com/enhanze/overview/default.aspx</u>
- 187 Stinson J, Yamada J, Dickson A, Lamba A, Stevens B. Review of systematic reviews on acute procedural pain in children in the hospital setting. Pain Res Manage 2008; 13(1):51
- 188 McMurtry CM, Taddio A, Noel M, Antony MM, Chambers CT, Asmundson GJG, Pillai Riddell R, Shaho V, MacDonald NE, Rogers J, Bucci LM, Mousmanis P, Lang E, Halperin S, Bowles S, Halpert C, Ipp M, Rieder MJ, Robson K, Uleryk E, Votta Bleeker E, Dubey V, Hanrahan A, Lockett D, Scott J. Exposure-based Interventions for the management of individuals with high levels of needle fear across the

lifespan: a clinical practice guideline and call for further research. Cognitive Behaviour Therapy 2016; 45(3):217– 235

- 189 Dorchy, H., Negoita, L., Roggemans, M.P. High glycated haemoglobin levels influence injection pain in diabetic children and adolescents. Rev Med Brux 2008; 29: 5–9 (Article in French)
- 190 Venables R, Batchelor H, Stirling H, Marriott J. Barriers to administering non-oral formulations in a paediatric population: A semi-structured interview study. Int J Pharm 2016; 497:12–17
- 191 Courtesy Andrew Owen (University of Liverpool)
- 192 Bakshi RP, Tatham LM, Savage AC, Tripathi AK, Mlambo G, Ippolito MM, Nenortas E, Rannard SP, Owen A, Shapiro TA. Long-acting injectable atovaquone nanomedicines for malaria prophylaxis. Nature Communications 2018; 9:315
- 193 Hobson JJ, Al-khouja A, Curley P, Meyers D, Flexner C, Siccardi M, Owen A, Meyers CF, Rannard SP. Semi-solid prodrug nanoparticles for long-acting delivery of watersoluble antiretroviral drugs within combination HIV therapies. Nature Communications 2019; 10:1413
- 194 Long-acting medicines for malaria, tuberculosis and hepatitis C. <u>https://unitaid.org/project/long-acting-</u> medicines-for-malaria-tuberculosis-and-hepatitis-c/#en
- 195 Siegel R.A., Rathbone M.J. (2012) Overview of Controlled Release Mechanisms. In: Siepmann J., Siegel R., Rathbone M. (eds) Fundamentals and Applications of Controlled Release Drug Delivery. Advances in Delivery Science and Technology. Springer, Boston, MA
- 196 Park EJ, Amatya S, Kim MS, Park JH, Seol E, Lee H, Shin Y-H, Na DH. Long-acting injectable formulations of antipsychotic drugs for the treatment of schizophrenia. Arch Pharm Res 2013; 36:651–659
- 197 Jacobstein R, Polis CB. Progestin-only contraception: Injectables and implants. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2014; 28:795-806
- 198 Weld ED, Flexner C. Long-acting implants to treat and prevent HIV infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2020; 15(1):33– 41
- 199 Trezza C, Ford SL, Spreen W, Pan R, Piscitelli S. Formulation and pharmacology of long-acting cabotegravir. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2015; 10:239–245
- 200 Long-acting injections to treat HIV. <u>https://unitaid.org/</u> project/long-acting-injections-to-treat-hiv/#en
- 201 Shaikh RP, Pillay V, Choonara YE, du Toit LC, Ndesendo, VMK, Bawa P, Cooppan S. A Review of Multi-Responsive Membranous Systems for Rate-Modulated Drug Delivery. AAPS PharmSciTech 2010; 11(1):441
- 202 Singh NK, Lee DS. In situ gelling pH- and temperaturesensitive biodegradable block copolymer hydrogels for drug delivery. J Control Rel 2014; 193:214–227
- 203 Norouzi M, Nazari B, Miller DW. Injectable hydrogelbased drug delivery systems for local cancer therapy. Drug Discovery Today 2016; 21 (11):1835
- 204 Sosnik A, Seremeta KP. Polymeric Hydrogels as Technology Platform for Drug Delivery Applications. Gels 2017; 3:25
- 205 Thambi T, Li Y, Lee DS. Injectable hydrogels for sustained release of therapeutic agents. J Control Rel 2017; 267:57–66
- 206 Kovarova M, Benhabbour SR, Massud I, Spagnuolo RA, Skinner B, Baker CE, Sykes C, Mollan KR, Kashuba ADM, García-Lerma JG, Mumper RJ, Garcia JV. Ultra-long-

acting removable drug delivery system for HIV treatment and prevention. Nature Communications 2018; 9:4156

- 207 Mathew AP, Uthaman S, Cho K-H, Cho C-S, Park I-K. Injectable hydrogels for delivering biotherapeutic molecules. International Journal of Biological Macromolecules 2018; 110:17–29
- 208 Cirillo G, Spizzirri UG, Curcio M, Nicoletta FP, Iemma F. Injectable Hydrogels for Cancer Therapy over the Last Decade. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:486
- 209 Benhabbour SR, Kovarova M, Jones C, Copeland DJ, Shrivastava R, Swanson MD, Sykes C, Ho PT, Cottrell ML, Sridharan A, Fix SM, Thayer O, Long JM, Hazuda DJ, Dayton PA, Mumper RJ, Kashuba ADM, Garcia JV. Ultralong-acting tunable biodegradable and removable controlled release implants for drug delivery. Nature Communications 2019; 10:4324
- 210 Fan D-y, Tian Y, Liu Z-j. Injectable Hydrogels for Localized Cancer Therapy. Frontiers in Chemistry 2019; 7: Article 675
- 211 Long-acting medicines for innovative vector control. <u>https://unitaid.org/project/long-acting-medicines-for-innovative-vector-control/</u>
- 212 Roberge C, Cros J-M, Serindoux J, Cagnon M-E, Samuel R, Vrlinic T, Berto P, Rech A, Richard J, Lopez-Noriega A. BEPO<sup>®</sup>: Bioresorbable diblock mPEG-PDLLA and triblock PDLLA-PEGPDLLA based in situ forming depots with flexible drug delivery kinetics modulation. Journal of Controlled Release 2020; 319:416-427.
- 213 http://www.delsitech.com/
- 214 Jacobstein R, Polis CB. Progestin-only contraception: Injectables and implants. Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics and Gynaecology 2014; 28:795-806
- 215 Weld ED, Flexner C. Long-acting implants to treat and prevent HIV infection. Curr Opin HIV AIDS. 2020; 15(1):33– 41
- 216 Medici Drug Delivery System™ (Intarcia). <u>https://www.</u> intarcia.com/pipeline-technology.html
- 217 RTI International Long-Acting Implantable HIV Prevention. <u>https://www.rti.org/impact/long-acting-implantable-hiv-prevention</u>
- 218 Gunawardana M, Remedios-Chan M, Miller CS, Fanter R, Yang F, Marzinke MA, Hendrix CW, Beliveau M, Moss JA, Smith TS, Baum MM. Pharmacokinetics of Long-Acting Tenofovir Alafenamide (GS-7340) Subdermal Implant for HIV Prophylaxis. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 2015; 59(7):3913
- 219 Unitaid Long Acting Compendium 2018. Available at: https://unitaid.org/assets/Unitaid-LA-compendium-November-2018-for-UTD-web-converted.pdf
- 220 Photo Credit: Courtesy of AVAC
- 221 Ravi AD, Sadhna D, Nagpaal D, Chawla L. Needle free injection technology: A complete insight. Int J Pharm Investig 2015; 5)4):192-199
- 222 Barolet D, Benohanian A. Current trends in needlefree jet injection: an update. Clinical, Cosmetic and Investigational Dermatology 2018; 11:231–238
- 223 InsuJet<sup>™</sup>. <u>https://insujet.com/</u>
- 224 ZOMA-Jet. <u>https://www.zomacton.com/why-choose-</u> zomacton/index.html
- 225 PharmaJet<sup>®</sup>. <u>https://pharmajet.com/stratis-imsc/</u>
- 226 Portal Instruments Drug Delivery Platform. <u>https://</u> www.portalinstruments.com/product-technology/
- 227 Coreplex<sup>™</sup>, Corium. <u>https://www.coriumintl.com/home/</u>

#### technology/corplex/

- 228 Medspray<sup>®</sup>, MedPharm. <u>https://www.medpharm.com/</u> en/discovery/delivery-technology/
- 229 Micro-Patch self-injectors, Nemaura. <u>http://www.</u> nemaura.co.uk/technology-applications/
- 230 TEPI Patch®, Medherent. <u>https://www.medherant.co.uk/</u> our-technology/tepi-technology/
- 231 Dragicevic N, Maibach H. Combined use of nanocarriers and physical methods for percutaneous penetration enhancement. Adv Drug Del Rev 2018; 127:58–84
- 232 Yadavalli T, Ames J, Agelidis A, Suryawanshi R, Jaishankar D, Hopkins J, Thakkar N, Koujah L, Shukla D. Drug-encapsulated carbon (DECON): A novel platform for enhanced drug delivery. Sci Adv 2019; 5: eaax0780
- 233 Arya J, Prausnitz MR. Microneedle patches for vaccination in developing countries. J Control Rel 2016; 240:135–141
- 234 Bhatnagar S, Dave K, Venuganti WVK. Microneedles in the clinic. J Control Rel 2017; 260:164–182
- 235 He X, Sun J, Zhuang J, Xu H, Liu Y, Wu D. Microneedle System for Transdermal Drug and Vaccine Delivery: Devices, Safety, and Prospects. Dose-Response: An International Journal 2019; Oct-Dec:1-18
- 236 Waghule T, Singhvi G, Dubey SK, Pandey MM, Gupta G, Singh M, Dua K. Microneedles: A smart approach and increasing potential for transdermal drug delivery system. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 2019; 109:1249–1258
- 237 Ali R, Mehta P, Arshad MS, Kucuk I, Chang M-W, Ahmad Z. Transdermal Microneedles—A Materials Perspective. AAPS PharmSciTech 2020; 21:12
- 238 Lee KJ, Jeong SS, Roh DH, Kim DY, Choi H-K, Lee EH. A practical guide to the development of microneedle systems – In clinical trials or on the market. Int J Pharm 2020; 573:118778
- 239 Arya J, Prausnitz MR. Microneedle patches for vaccination in developing countries. J Control Rel 2016; 240:135–141
- 240 Larrañeta E, Lutton REM, Woolfson AD, Donnelly RF. Microneedle arrays as transdermal and intradermal drug delivery systems: Materials science, manufacture and commercial development. Materials Science and Engineering R 2016; 104:1–32
- 241 Leone M, Mönkäre J, Bouwstra JA, Kersten G. Dissolving Microneedle Patches for Dermal Vaccination. Pharm Res 2017; 34:2223–2240
- 242 Duarah S, Sharma M, Wen J. Recent advances in microneedle-based drug delivery: Special emphasis on its use in paediatric population. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 136:48–69
- 243 Rodgers AM, Cordeiro AS, Donnelly RF. Technology update: dissolvable microneedle patches for vaccine delivery. Medical Devices: Evidence and Research 2019; 12:379–398
- 244 Sharma S, Hatware K, Bhadane P, Sindhikar S, Mishra DK. Recent advances in microneedle composites for biomedical applications: Advanced drug delivery technologies. Materials Science & Engineering C 2019; 103:109717
- 245 Waghule T, Singhvi G, Dubey SK, Pandey MM, Gupta G, Singh M, Dua K. Microneedles: A smart approach and increasing potential for transdermal drug delivery system. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 2019;

109:1249-1258

- 246 Ali R, Mehta P, Arshad MS, Kucuk I, Chang M-W, Ahmad
  Z. Transdermal Microneedles—A Materials Perspective.
  AAPS PharmSciTech 2020; 21:12
- 247 Lee KJ, Jeong SS, Roh DH, Kim DY, Choi H-K, Lee EH. A practical guide to the development of microneedle systems – In clinical trials or on the market. Int J Pharm 2020; 573:118778
- 248 Soluvia® withdrawn.
- 249 Duarah S, Sharma M, Wen J. Recent advances in microneedle-based drug delivery: Special emphasis on its use in paediatric population. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 136:48–69
- 250 Marshall S, Sahm LJ, Moore AC. Microneedle technology for immunisation: Perception, acceptability and suitability for paediatric use. Vaccine 2016; 34:723–734
- 251 Donnelly RF, Singh TRR, Garland MJ, Migalska K, Majithiya R, McCrudden CM, Kole PL, Mahmood TMT, McCarthy HO, Woolfson AD. Hydrogel-Forming Microneedle Arrays for Enhanced Transdermal Drug Delivery. Adv Funct Mater 2012; 22:4879–4890
- 252 Arya J, Prausnitz MR. Microneedle patches for vaccination in developing countries. J Control Rel 2016; 240:135–141
- 253 Larrañeta E, Lutton REM, Woolfson AD, Donnelly RF. Microneedle arrays as transdermal and intradermal drug delivery systems: Materials science, manufacture and commercial development. Materials Science and Engineering R 2016; 104:1 32
- 254 Leone M, Mönkäre J, Bouwstra JA, Kersten G. Dissolving Microneedle Patches for Dermal Vaccination. Pharm Res 2017; 34:2223–2240
- 255 Lim D-J, Vines JB, Park H, Lee S-H. Microneedles: A versatile strategy for transdermal delivery of biological molecules. Int J Biological Macromolecules 2018; 110:30–38
- 256 Duarah S, Sharma M, Wen J. Recent advances in microneedle-based drug delivery: Special emphasis on its use in paediatric population. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 136:48–69
- 257 He X, Sun J, Zhuang J, Xu H, Liu Y, Wu D. Microneedle System for Transdermal Drug and Vaccine Delivery: Devices, Safety, and Prospects. Dose-Response: An International Journal 2019; Oct-Dec:1-18
- 258 Lee KJ, Goudie MJ, Tebon P, Sun W, Luo Z, Lee J, Zhang S, Fetah K, Kim H-J, Xue Y, Darabi MA, Ahadian S, Sarikhani E, Ryu W, Gu Z, Weiss PS, Dokmeci MR, Ashammakhi N, Khademhosseini, A. Non-transdermal microneedles for advanced drug delivery. Adv Drug Del Rev 2019 <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2019.11.010</u>
- 259 Sharma S, Hatware K, Bhadane P, Sindhikar S, Mishra DK. Recent advances in microneedle composites for biomedical applications: Advanced drug delivery technologies. Materials Science & Engineering C 2019; 103:109717
- 260 Singh P, Carrier A, Chen Y, Lin S, Wang J, Cui S, Zhang X. Polymeric microneedles for controlled transdermal drug delivery. J Control Rel 2019; 315:97–113
- 261 Waghule T, Singhvi G, Dubey SK, Pandey MM, Gupta G, Singh M, Dua K. Microneedles: A smart approach and increasing potential for transdermal drug delivery system. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 2019; 109:1249–1258
- 262 Yang J, Liu X, Fua Y, Song Y. Recent advances of

microneedles for biomedical applications: drug delivery and beyond. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B 2019; 9(3):469e483

- 263 Ali R, Mehta P, Arshad MS, Kucuk I, Chang M-W, Ahmad Z. Transdermal Microneedles—A Materials Perspective. AAPS PharmSciTech 2020; 21:12
- 264 Lee KJ, Jeong SS, Roh DH, Kim DY, Choi H-K, Lee EH. A practical guide to the development of microneedle systems In clinical trials or on the market. Int J Pharm 2020; 573:118778
- 265 Photo source: PATH.
- van der Vossen AC, van der Velde I, Smeets OSNM, Postma
  DJ, Eckhardt M, Vermes A, Koch BCP, Vulto AG, Hanff LM.
  Formulating a poorly water soluble drug into an oral solution suitable for paediatric patients; lorazepam as a model drug. Eur J Pharm Sci 2017; 100:205–210
- 267 Kohli K, Chopra S, Dhar D, Arora S, Khar KK. Selfemulsifying drug delivery systems: an approach to enhance oral bioavailability. Drug Discovery Today 2010; 15(21/22):958
- 268 Kalepun S, Manthina M, Padavala V. Oral lipid-based drug delivery systems – an overview. Acta Pharmaceutica Sinica B 2013; 3(6):361–372
- 269 Lou H, Liu M, Wang L, Mishra R, Qu W, Johnson J, Brunson E, Almoazen H. Development of a Mini-Tablet of Co-Grinded Prednisone–Neusilin Complex for Pediatric Use. AAPS PharmSciTech 2013; 14(3):950
- 270 Kumar D, Chirravuri SVS, Shastri NR. Impact of surface area of silica particles on dissolution rate and oralbioavailability of poorly water soluble drugs: A case study with aceclofenac. Int J Phar, 2014; 461:459–468
- 271 Feeney OM, Crum MF, McEvoy CL, Trevaskis NL, Williams
  HD, Pouton CW, Charman WN, Bergströmd CAS, Porter CJH. 50 years of oral lipid-based formulations: Provenance, progress and future perspectives. Adv Drug Del Rev 2016; 101:167–194
- 272 Pham K, Li D, Guo S, Penzak S, Dong X. Development and in vivo evaluation of child-friendly lopinavir/ritonavir pediatric granules utilizing novel in situ self-assembly nanoparticles. J Control Rel 2016; 226:88–97
- 273 Maleki A, Kettiger H, Schoubben A, Rosenholm JM, Ambrogi V, Hamidi M. Mesoporous silica materials: From physico-chemical properties to enhanced dissolution of poorly water-soluble drugs. J Control Rel 2017; 262:329– 347
- 274 Davis M, Walker G. Recent strategies in spray drying for the enhanced bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs. J Control Rel 2018; 269:110–127
- 275 Bertoni S, Albertini B, Passerini N. Spray Congealing: An Emerging Technology to Prepare Solid Dispersions with Enhanced Oral Bioavailability of Poorly Water Soluble Drugs. Molecules 2019; 24: 3471
- 276 Joshi K, Chandra A, Jain K, Talegaonkar S. Nanocrystalization: An Emerging Technology to Enhance the Bioavailability of Poorly Soluble Drugs. Pharmaceutical Nanotechnology, 2019; 7:259-278
- 277 Mohammad IS, Hu H, Yin L, He W. Drug nanocrystals: Fabrication methods and promising therapeutic applications. Int J Pharm 2019; 562:187–202
- 278 Ran S, Rana R, Saraogi GK, Kumar V, Gupta U. Self-Emulsifying Oral Lipid Drug Delivery Systems: Advances and Challenges. AAPS PharmSciTech 2019; 20:129
- 279 Tran P, Pyo Y-C, Kim D-H, Lee S-E, Kim J-K, Park J-S. Overview of the Manufacturing Methods of Solid

Dispersion Technology for Improving the Solubility of Poorly Water-Soluble Drugs and Application to Anticancer Drugs. Pharmaceutics 2019, 11:132

- 280 Goel S, Sachdeva M, Agarwal V. Nanosuspension Technology: Recent Patents on Drug Delivery and their Characterizations. Recent Patents on Drug Delivery & Formulation 2019; 13:91-104
- 281 Joshi K, Chandra A, Jain K, Talegaonkar S. Nanocrystalization: An Emerging Technology to Enhance the Bioavailability of Poorly Soluble Drugs. Pharmaceutical Nanotechnology, 2019; 7:259-278
- 282 Meruva S, Thool P, Shah S, Karki S, Bowen W, Ghosh I, Kumar S. Formulation and performance of Irbesartan nanocrystalline suspension and granulated or beadlayered dried powders – Part I. Int J Pharm 2019a; 568:118189
- 283 Meruva S, Thool P, Karki S, Bowen W, Ghosh I, Kumar S. Downstream processing of irbesartan nanocrystalline suspension and minitablet development – Part II. Int J Pharm 2019b; 568:118509
- 284 Mohammad IS, Hu H, Yin L, He W. Drug nanocrystals: Fabrication methods and promising therapeutic applications. Int J Pharm 2019; 562:187–202
- 285 Feng J, Markwalter CE, Tian C, Armstrong M, Prud'homme RK. Translational formulation of nanoparticle therapeutics from laboratory discovery to clinical scale. J Transl Med 2019; 17:200
- 286 Markwalter CE, Pagels RF, Wilson BK, Ristroph KD, Prud'homme RK. Flash NanoPrecipitation for the Encapsulation of Hydrophobic and Hydrophilic Compounds in Polymeric Nanoparticles. J Vis Exp 2019;143:e58757
- 287 Amolegbe SA, Hirano Y, Adebayo JO, Ademowo OG, Balogun EA, Obaleye JA, Krettli AU, Yu C, Hayami S. Mesoporous silica nanocarriers encapsulated antimalarials with high therapeutic performance. Scientific Reports 2018; 8:3078
- 288 Fuller MA, Carey A, Whiley H, Kurimoto R, Ebara M, Köper I. Nanoparticles in an antibiotic-loaded nanomesh for drug delivery. RSC Adv 2019; 9:30064
- 289 LaFountaine JS, McGinity JW, Williams RO III. Challenges and Strategies in Thermal Processing of Amorphous Solid Dispersions: A Review. AAPS PharmSciTech 2016; 17(1):43
- 290 Davis M, Walker G. Recent strategies in spray drying for the enhanced bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs. J Control Rel 2018; 269:110–127
- 291 Ellenberger DJ, Miller DA, Williams RO III. Expanding the Application and Formulation Space of Amorphous Solid Dispersions with KinetiSol<sup>®</sup>: a Review. AAPS PharmSciTech 2018; 19(5):1933
- 292 Tran P, Pyo Y-C, Kim D-H, Lee S-E, Kim J-K, Park J-S. Overview of the Manufacturing Methods of Solid Dispersion Technology for Improving the Solubility of Poorly Water-Soluble Drugs and Application to Anticancer Drugs. Pharmaceutics 2019, 11:132
- 293 Schittny A, Huwyler J, Puchkov M. Mechanisms of increased bioavailability through amorphous solid dispersions: a review. Drug Delivery 2020; 27(1):110–127
- 294 Kohli K, Chopra S, Dhar D, Arora S, Khar KK. Selfemulsifying drug delivery systems: an approach to enhance oral bioavailability. Drug Discovery Today 2010; 15(21/22):958
- 295 Kalepun S, Manthina M, Padavala V. Oral lipid-based drug delivery systems – an overview. Acta Pharmaceutica

Sinica B 2013; 3(6):361-372

- 296 Feeney OM, Crum MF, McEvoy CL, Trevaskis NL, Williams HD, Pouton CW, Charman WN, Bergströmd CAS, Porter CJH. 50 years of oral lipid-based formulations: Provenance, progress and future perspectives. Adv Drug Del Rev 2016; 101:167–194
- 297 Giardiello M, Liptrott NJ, McDonald TO, Moss D, Siccardi M, Martin P, Smith D, Gurjar R, Rannard SP, Owen A. Accelerated oral nanomedicine discovery from miniaturized screening to clinical production exemplified by paediatric HIV nanotherapies. Nature Communications2016; 7:13184
- 298 Pham K, Li D, Guo S, Penzak S, Dong X. Development and in vivo evaluation of child-friendly lopinavir/ritonavir pediatric granules utilizing novel in situ self-assembly nanoparticles. J Control Rel 2016; 226:88–97
- 299 Gumaste SG, Serajuddin ATM. Development of solid SEDDS, VII: Effect of pore size of silica on drug release from adsorbed self-emulsifying lipid-based formulations. E J Pharm Sci 2017; 110:134–147
- 300 Puttappa N, Kumar RS, Yamjala K. Artesunate-quercetin/ luteolin dual drug nanofacilitated synergistic treatment for malaria: A plausible approach to overcome artemisinin combination therapy resistance. Medical Hypotheses 2017; 109:176–180
- 301 Bertoni S, Albertini B, Passerini N. Spray Congealing: An Emerging Technology to Prepare Solid Dispersions with Enhanced Oral Bioavailability of Poorly Water Soluble Drugs. Molecules 2019; 24: 3471
- 302 Bezerra-Souza A, Fernandez-Garcia R, Rodrigues GF, Bolas-Fernandez F, Laurenti MD, Passero LF, Lalatsa A, Serrano DR. Repurposing Butenafine as An Oral Nanomedicine for Visceral Leishmaniasis. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:353
- 303 Chen S, Hanning S, Falconer J, Locke M, Wen J. Recent advances in non-ionic surfactant vesicles (niosomes): Fabrication, characterization, pharmaceutical and cosmetic applications. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 144:18–39
- 304 Ran S, Rana R, Saraogi GK, Kumar V, Gupta U. Self-Emulsifying Oral Lipid Drug Delivery Systems: Advances and Challenges. AAPS PharmSciTech 2019; 20:129
- 305 Siepmann J, Faham A, Clas S-D, Boyd BJ, Jannin V, Bernkop-Schnürch A, Zhao H, Lecommandoux S, Evans JC, Allenh, C, Merkel OM, Costabile G, Alexander MR, Wildman RD, Roberts CJ, Leroux J-C. Lipids and polymers in pharmaceutical technology: Lifelong companions. Int J Pharm 2019; 558:128–142
- 306 Charkoftaki G, Kytariolos J, Macheras P. Novel milkbased oral formulations: Proof of concept. Int J Pharm 2010; 390:150–159
- 307 Kamal SS, Kaur D, Singh, S, Sharma A, Katual MK, Garg AK, Kumar R. An Investigative and Explanatory Review on Use of Milk as a Broad-Spectrum Drug Carrier for Improvement of Bioavailability and Patient Compliance. J Young Pharm 2016; 8(2):72-75
- 308 Boyd BJ, Salim M, Clulow AJ, Ramirez G, Pham AC, Hawley A. The impact of digestion is essential to the understanding of milk as a drug delivery system for poorly water soluble drugs. J Control Rel 2018; 292:13–17
- 309 Salim M, Khan J, Ramirez G, Clulow AJ, Hawley A, Ramachandruni H, Boyd BJ. Interactions of Artefenomel (OZ439) with Milk during Digestion: Insights into Digestion-Driven Solubilization and Polymorphic Transformations. Mol Pharmaceutics 2018; 15:3535–3544

310 Abu Bakara SYB, Salim M, Clulow AJ, Hawley A, Boyd BJ.

Revisiting dispersible milk-drug tablets as a solid lipid formulation in the context of digestion. Int J Pharm 2019; 554:179–189

- 311 alim M, Ramirez G, Clulow AJ, Zhang Y, Ristroph KD, Feng J, McManus SA, Hawley A, Prud'homme RK, Boyd BJ. Solid-State Behavior and Solubilization of Flash Nanoprecipitated Clofazimine Particles during the Dispersion and Digestion of Milk-Based Formulations. Mol Pharmaceutics 2019; 16:2755–2765
- 312 Lou H, Liu M, Wang L, Mishra R, Qu W, Johnson J, Brunson E, Almoazen H. Development of a Mini-Tablet of Co-Grinded Prednisone–Neusilin Complex for Pediatric Use. AAPS PharmSciTech 2013; 14(3):950
- 313 Kumar D, Chirravuri SVS, Shastri NR. Impact of surface area of silica particles on dissolution rate and oralbioavailability of poorly water soluble drugs: A case study with aceclofenac. Int J Phar, 2014; 461:459–468
- 314 Bukara K, Schueller L, Rosier J, Martens MA, Daems T, Verheyden L, Eelen S, Van Speybroeck M, Libanati C, Martens JA, Van Den Mooter G, Frérart F, Jolling K, De Gieter M, Bugarski B, Kiekens F. Ordered mesoporous silica to enhance the bioavailability of poorly watersoluble drugs: Proof of concept in man. Eur J Pharm Biophar, 2016; 108:220–225
- 315 Maleki A, Kettiger H, Schoubben A, Rosenholm JM, Ambrogi V, Hamidi M. Mesoporous silica materials: From physico-chemical properties to enhanced dissolution of poorly water-soluble drugs. J Control Rel 2017; 262:329– 347
- 316 Albertini B, Perissutti B, Bertoni S, Zanolla D, Franceschinis E, Voinovich D, Lombardo F, Keiser J, Passerini N. Combining Mechanochemistry and Spray Congealing for New Praziquantel Pediatric Formulations in Schistosomiasis Treatment. Int J Mol Sci 2019; 20: 1233
- 317 Nagy K, Nyúl K, Wagner I, Molnár K, Marosi G. Electrospun water soluble polymer mat for ultrafast release of Donepezil HCl. eXPRESS Polymer Letters 2010; 4(12):763–772
- 318 Fina F, Goyanes A, Gaisford S, Basit AW. Selective laser sintering (SLS) 3D printing of medicines. Int J Pharm 2017; 529:285–293
- 319 Goyanes A, Fina F, Martorana A, Sedough D, Gaisford S, Basit AW. Development of modified release 3D printed tablets (printlets) with pharmaceutical excipients using additive manufacturing. Int J Pharm 2017a; 527:21–30
- 320 Lim SH, Kathuria H, Tan JJY, Kang L. 3D printed drug delivery and testing systems — a passing fad or the future? Adv Drug Del Rev 2018; 132:139–168
- 321 Kjar A, Huang Y. Application of Micro-Scale 3D Printing in Pharmaceutics. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:390
- 322 Vithani K, Goyanes A, Jannin V, Basit AW, Gaisford S, Boyd BJ. An Overview of 3D Printing Technologies for Soft Materials and Potential Opportunities for Lipid-based Drug Delivery Systems. Pharm Res 2019; 36:4
- 323 Goyanes A, Fina F, Martorana A, Sedough D, Gaisford S, Basit AW. Development of modified release 3D printed tablets (printlets) with pharmaceutical excipients using additive manufacturing. Int J Pharm 2017a; 527:21–30
- 324 Awad A, Fina F, Trenfield SJ, Patel P, Goyanes A, Gaisford S, Basit AW. 3D Printed Pellets (Miniprintlets): A Novel, Multi-Drug, Controlled Release Platform Technology. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:148
- 325 Palekar S, Nukala PK, Mishra SM, Kipping T, Patel K. Application of 3D printing technology and quality by design approach for development of age-appropriate pediatric formulation of baclofen. Int J Pharm 2019; 556:106–116

- 326 Robles-Martinez P, Xu X, Trenfield SJ, Awad A, Goyanes A, Telford R, Basit AW, Gaisford S. 3D Printing of a Multi-Layered Polypill Containing Six Drugs Using a Novel Stereolithographic Method. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:274
- 327 Rycerz K, Stepien KA, Czapiewska M, Arafat BT, Habashy R, Isreb A, Peak M, Alhnan MA. Embedded 3D Printing of Novel Bespoke Soft Dosage Form Concept for Pediatrics. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:630
- 328 Preis M, Breitkreutz J, Sandler N. Perspective: Concepts of printing technologies for oral film formulations. Int J Pharm 2015; 494:578–584
- 329 Scoutaris N, Snowden M, Douroumis D. Taste masked thin films printed by jet dispensing. Int J Pharm 2015; 494:619–622
- 330 Musazzi UM, Selmin F, Ortenzi MA, Mohammed GK, Franzé S, Minghetti P, Cilurzo F. Personalized orodispersible films by hot melt ram extrusion 3D printing. Int J Pharm 2018; 551:52–59
- 331 Öblom H, Sjöholm E, Rautamo M, Sandler N. Towards Printed Pediatric Medicines in Hospital Pharmacies: Comparison of 2D and 3D-Printed OrodispersibleWarfarin Films with Conventional Oral Powders in Unit Dose Sachets. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11: 334
- 332 Tagami T, Yoshimura N, Goto E, Noda T, Ozeki T. Fabrication of Muco-Adhesive Oral Films by the 3D Printing of Hydroxypropyl Methylcellulose-Based Catechin-Loaded Formulations. Biol Pharm Bull 2019; 42:1898–1905
- 333 Fina F, Madla CM, Goyanes A, Zhang J, Gaisford S, Basit AW. Fabricating 3D printed orally disintegrating printlets using selective laser sintering. Int J Pharm 2018; 541:101–107
- 334 Lim SH, Kathuria H, Tan JJY, Kang L. 3D printed drug delivery and testing systems — a passing fad or the future? Adv Drug Del Rev 2018; 132:139–168

- 335 Persaud S, Eid S, Swiderski N, Serris I, Cho H. Preparations of Rectal Suppositories Containing Artesunate. Pharmaceutics 2020; 12:222
- 336 Khaled SA, Burley JC, Alexander MR, Roberts CJ. Desktop 3D printing of controlled release pharmaceutical bilayer tablets. Int J Pharm 2014; 461:105–111
- 337 Khaled SA, Burley JC, Alexander MR, Yang J, Roberts CJ. 3D printing of tablets containing multiple drugs with defined release profiles. Int J Pharm 2015a; 494:643–650
- 338 Khaled SA, Burley JC, Alexander MR, Yang J, Roberts CJ. 3D printing of five-in-one dose combination polypill with defined immediate and sustained release profiles. J Control Rel 2015b; 217:308–314
- 339 Siyawamwaya M, du Toit LC, Kumar P, Choonara YE, Kondiah PPPD, Pillay V. 3D printed, controlled release, tritherapeutic tablet matrix for advanced anti-HIV-1 drug delivery. Eur J Pharm Biopharm 2019; 138:99–110
- 340 M3DIMAKER™. <u>https://www.fabrx.co.uk/2020/04/06/</u> fabrxs-pharmaceutical-3d-printer-for-personalisedmedicines-m3dimaker-is-now-available/
- 341 Goyanes A, Scarpa M, Kamlow M, Gaisford S, Basit AW, Orlu M. Patient acceptability of 3D printed medicines. Int J Phar, 2017b; 530:71–78
- 342 Spritam<sup>®</sup> (levetiracetam) tablets for oral suspension. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda\_docs/ label/2016/207958s002lbl.pdf
- 343 Gerrard SE, Walsh J, Bowers N, Salunke S, Hershenson S. Innovations in Pediatric Drug Formulations and Administration Technologies for Low Resource Settings. Pharmaceutics 2019; 11:518

